
 

 

When telephoning, please ask for: Democratic Services 
Direct dial  0115 914 8511 
Email  democraticservices@rushcliffe.gov.uk 
 
Our reference:  
Your reference: 
Date: Wednesday, 4 June 2025 

 
 
To all Members of the Planning Committee 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
A Meeting of the Planning Committee will be held on Thursday, 12 June 2025 at 
6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West 
Bridgford to consider the following items of business. 
 
This meeting will be accessible and open to the public via the live stream on  
YouTube and viewed via the link: https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC 
Please be aware that until the meeting starts the live stream video will not be  
showing on the home page. For this reason, please keep refreshing the home  
page until you see the video appear. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Sara Pregon 
Monitoring Officer   
 

AGENDA 

 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence and Substitute Members  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

 Link to further information in the Council’s Constitution 
 

3.   Minutes of the Meeting held on 15 May 2025 (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

4.   Planning Applications (Pages 5 - 54) 
 

 The report of the Director – Development and Economic Growth 
 

5.   Planning Appeals (Pages 55 - 56) 
 

 The report of the Director – Development and Economic Growth 
 

 
 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#Councillor%20Code%20of%20Conduct


 

 

 
 
 
 
Membership  
 
Chair: Councillor R Walker  
Vice-Chair: Councillor A Edyvean 
Councillors: T Birch, A Brown, S Calvert, J Chaplain, S Ellis, S Mallender, 
D Mason, C Thomas and T Wells 
 

Meeting Room Guidance 

 
Fire Alarm Evacuation:  in the event of an alarm sounding please evacuate the 
building using the nearest fire exit, normally through the Council Chamber.  You 
should assemble at the far side of the plaza outside the main entrance to the 
building. 
 
Toilets: are located to the rear of the building near the lift and stairs to the first 
floor. 
 
Mobile Phones: For the benefit of others please ensure that your mobile phone is 
switched off whilst you are in the meeting.   
 
Microphones:  When you are invited to speak please press the button on your 
microphone, a red light will appear on the stem.  Please ensure that you switch 
this off after you have spoken.   
 

Recording at Meetings 

 
National legislation permits filming and recording by anyone attending a meeting. 
This is not within the Council’s control.  
 
Rushcliffe Borough Council is committed to being open and transparent in its 
decision making.  As such, the Council will undertake audio recording of meetings 
which are open to the public, except where it is resolved that the public be 
excluded, as the information being discussed is confidential or otherwise exempt 
 
 



 

 

 
 

 
MINUTES 

OF THE MEETING OF THE 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

THURSDAY, 15 MAY 2025 
Held at 6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West 

Bridgford 
and live streamed on Rushcliffe Borough Council’s YouTube channel 

 
PRESENT: 

 Councillors R Butler (Chair), R Walker (Vice-Chair), S Calvert, J Chaplain, 
S Ellis, E Georgiou, S Mallender, D Mason, H Parekh, C Thomas and T Wells 

 
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 A Cullen Planning Manager – Development 
 P Langton Senior Planning Officer 
 T Pettit Landscape Officer 
 A Walker Borough Solicitor 
 E Richardson Democratic Services Officer 
 
 APOLOGIES: 

Councillor A Edyvean 
  
  

 
30 Declarations of Interest 

 
 Councillor R Walker declared a non-pecuniary interest as Ward Councillor for 

application 24/00388/CMA and would remove himself from the debate and not 
vote for this item. 
 
Councillors H Parekh and S Mallender arrived after the start of discussion for 
application 25/00025/TPO and did not take part in the debate and did not vote 
for this item. 
 

31 Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 February 2025 
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 13 February 2025 were agreed as a true 
record and were signed by the Chair. 
 

32 Planning Applications 
 

 The Committee considered the written report of the Director – Development 
and Economic Growth relating to the following applications, which had been 
circulated previously. 
 
32.1    25/00025/TPO - To the Upper Broughton No.1 Tree Preservation 

Order 2025 - The New House, Station Road, Upper Broughton 
 
 

page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Updates  
 
In accordance with the Council’s Public Speaking Protocol for Planning 
Committee, Mrs C Wilson (Objector) addressed the Committee.  
 
DECISION  
 
THE UPPER BROUGHTON NO.1 TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 2025 BE 
CONFIRMED FOR THE SPECIFIED REASONS SET OUT IN THE REPORT 
PUBLISHED WITH THE AGENDA 
 
Councillor R Walker removed himself from the Committee and did not 
contribute to the discussion or vote on the following application. 
 
32.2    24/00388/CMA – Extraction, processing, sale and distribution of 

sand and gravel, and subsequent restoration together with the 
necessary highway and access improvements - Land Off Green 
Street, Mill Hill And Land At Barton In Fabis Off Chestnut Lane 

 
Updates 
 
Additional representations were received after the agenda was published and 
this was circulated to the Committee before the meeting. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s Public Speaking Protocol for Planning 
Committee, Mr J Coles (Objector) and Councillor R Walker (Ward Councillor) 
addressed the Committee.  
 
Comment 
 
Members of the Committee expressed concern about the inappropriateness of 
the development in the Green Belt by virtue of the size, scale and location of 
the engineering and processing operations and it was not considered that there 
were any other considerations that clearly outweighed the harm to the Green 
Belt. The Committee also considered that it had not been fully demonstrated 
that the proposed development would not have significant adverse impacts in 
respect of contamination, amenity, landscape, rights of way, noise, dust, air 
quality, ecology, or cumulatively from existing or future housing 
applications/permissions. 
 
Councillor S Ellis moved to reject the recommendation and put forward the 
proposal that the Council raise an objection to the principle of the development 
and amend its response to Nottinghamshire County Council as discussed and 
this was seconded by Councillor H Parekh and the vote was carried. 
 
DECISION 
 
RUSHCLIFFE BOROUGH COUNCIL RAISE AN OBJECTION TO 
NOTTINGHAMSHIRE COUNTY COUNCY AS TO THE PRINCIPLE OF 
DEVELOPMENT ON THE BASIS THAT THE PROPOSAL WOULD 
REPRESENT INAPPROPRIATE DEVELOPMENT IN THE GREEN BELT 
AND IT IS NOT CONSIDERED THAT THERE ARE ANY OTHER 

page 2



 

 

CONSIDERATIONS THAT CLEARLY OUTWEIGH THE HARM TO THE 
GREEN BELT WHICH WOULD AMOUNT TO VERY SPECIAL 
CIRCUMSTANCES.  
 
RUSHCLIFFE BOROUGH COUNCIL ALSO CONSIDER THAT IT HAS NOT 
BEEN FULLY DEMONSTRATED TO THE SATSFACTION OF RUSHCLIFFE 
BOROUGH COUNCIL THAT THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT WOULD 
NOT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE IMPACT IN RESPECT OF 
CONTAMINATION, AMENITY, LANDSCAPE, RIGHTS OF WAY, NOISE, 
DUST, AIR QUALITY, ECOLOGY, OR THE CUMULATIVE IMPACT WITH 
EXISTING AND FUTURE HOUSING APPLICATIONS/PERMISSIONS. 
 
IT IS ALSO RECOMMENDED THAT NOTTINGHAMSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL OBTAIN FURTHER INFORMATION PRIOR TO DETERMINATION 
OF THE APPLICATION IN RESPECT OF THE POINTS AS SET OUT IN THE 
REPORT AND AS PROVIDED IN THE LATE REPRESENTATIONS AND 
UPDATE TO COMMITTEE.  
 
SHOULD NOTTINGHAMSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSIDER THE 
APPLICATION TO BE ACCEPTABLE THEN RUSHCLIFFE BOROUGH 
COUNCIL RECOMMENDS CONDITIONS AS SET OUT IN THE REPORT 
AND AS PROVIDED IN THE LATE REPRESENTATIONS AND UPDATE TO 
COMMITTEE. 
 
Councillor R Walker rejoined the meeting. 
 

33 Planning Appeals 
 

 The Committee noted the Planning Appeal Decisions report which had been 
circulated with the agenda. 
 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.05 pm. 

 
 

CHAIR 

page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Planning Committee 
 
Thursday, 12 June 2025 
 
Planning Applications 

 

Report of the Director – Development and Economic Growth 
 
PLEASE NOTE: 

 
1. Slides relating to the application will be shown where appropriate. 

 
2. Plans illustrating the report are for identification only. 

 
3. Background Papers - the application file for each application is available for 

public inspection at the Rushcliffe Customer Contact Centre in accordance 
with the  Local Government Act 1972 and relevant planning 
legislation/Regulations.  Copies of the submitted application details are 
available on the   website http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online- 
applications/. This report is available as part of the Planning Committee Agenda 
which can be viewed five working days before the meeting at 
https://democracy.rushcliffe.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=140  

 Once a decision has been taken on a planning application the decision notice 
is also displayed on the website. 

 
4. Reports to the Planning Committee take into account diversity and Crime and 

Disorder issues. Where such implications are material they are referred to in the 
reports, where they are balanced with other material planning considerations. 

 
5. With regard to S17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 the Police have 

advised they wish to be consulted on the following types of applications: major 
developments; those attracting significant numbers of the public e.g., public 
houses, takeaways etc.; ATM machines, new neighbourhood facilities including 
churches; major alterations to public buildings; significant areas of open 
space/landscaping or linear paths; form diversification to industrial uses in 
isolated locations. 

 
6. Where the Planning Committee have power to determine an application but the 

decision proposed would be contrary to the recommendation of the Director – 
Development and Economic Growth, the application may be referred to the 
Council for decision. 

7. The following notes appear on decision notices for full planning permissions: 
   “When carrying out building works you are advised to use door types and 
locks conforming to British Standards, together with windows that are 
performance tested (i.e. to BS 7950 for ground floor and easily accessible 
windows in homes). You are also advised to consider installing a burglar 
alarm, as this is the most effective way of protecting against burglary. 

page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://democracy.rushcliffe.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=140


If you have not already made a Building Regulations application we would 
recommend that you check to see if one is required as soon as possible. Help 
and guidance can be obtained by ringing 0115 914 8459, or by looking at our 
web site at 

http://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/buildingcontrol  

 
 
 
Application Address Page      

   
25/00073/TORDER 7 Manor Park, Ruddington  

 
7-12 

 To the Ruddington No.1 Tree Preservation Order 2025 
 

 

Ward Ruddington 
 

 

Recommendation Confirm the Ruddington No.1 Tree Preservation 2025  

   
Application Address  

   
24/00161/FUL  Land West of Bradmore Road and North of Wysall 

Road, Land West of Wysall, Wysall 
 
Construction, operation and subsequent 
decommissioning of a renewable energy park 
comprising ground mounted Solar PV with co-located 
battery energy storage system (BESS) at the point of 
connection, together with associated infrastructure, 
access, landscaping and cabling 

13-54 

   
Ward Bunny  
   
Recommendation Grant planning permission subject to conditions  

   

                                                                                                                                 

 

page 6

http://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/buildingcontrol


Garden
House

Hunters Cottage

The Coach House

RUDDINGTON

Butlers Cottage

Manor Park

Tall Trees

7

Coppertop

9

South Manor

5

MANOR

8

PARK

6

Rushcliffe

Gulberg

Charnwood

20

34.1m

Shelter

Greenheath

The
Orchard

7a

102

114

T1

Drawing title

Project

Reference Rev.

Project officer

DrawnScale

Date

Checked

                   Rushcliffe Borough Council, Borough Development, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West Bridgford, Nottingham, NG2 7YG
This map is reproduced based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
(c) Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Rushcliffe Borough Council 100019419

Rushcliffe Arena

NG2 7YG

Tel. 0115 981 9911
Fax. 0115 914 8452

West Bridgford
Rugby Road

Nottingham

Property Services
Rushcliffe Borough Council

Rushcliffe
Borough Council

Ruddington No.1 Tree Preservation Order
2025

7 Manor Park, Ruddington, Nottingham

Nov 2024

1:1000

665.11

TP

TP

page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

25/00073/TORDER 
  

Objector Mr and Mrs Ahlawat and Mrs Sian Hacker  

  

Location 7 Manor Park, Ruddington.  

 
  

Objection  To the Ruddington No.1 Tree Preservation Order 2025 

 
  

Ward Ruddington 

 

THE SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
1. The tree is located in the front garden of 7 Manor Park, a characterful large 

semi-detached Victorian property located in Ruddington conservation area. 
The tree is growing in close proximity to the adjacent property, 7A Manor Park, 
which was constructed in the late 1970’s. Manor Park has a distinct character 
with crushed stone pavements, stone boundary walls, individually designed 
large properties and a number of large mature trees. The tree in question is a 
Lime tree, a native species, the tree has developed a columnar shape with a 
canopy which is much taller than it is wider.   
 

DETAILS OF THE TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 
2. An initial Tree Preservation Order (TPO) was made following a conservation 

area tree notice to fell it on the grounds that it overhung the neighbouring house 
causing concern to the owner despite annual pruning. The tree was considered 
by the owner to be dying and now dangerous. A large branch had fallen onto 
the drive and they were concerned 3 other branches were about to fall off.  

 
3. The TPO was made on the 7th November 2024. Under the Town and Country 

Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 the Order takes 
effect provisionally and needs to be confirmed within 6 months of the date it 
was made. The Council has a duty to consider all objections and 
representations that have been made. The 6-month deadline lapsed as the 
April Planning Committee was cancelled and the TPO needed to be confirmed 
before the May Planning Committee. As such, the original was allowed to lapse 
and a second TPO was made on 7th May 2025. A further consultation period 
was undertaken on the new TPO. The objections to the original TPO were 
confirmed by the objectors to be considered again for the second TPO. No 
further objections have been received.   

 

SITE HISTORY 
 
4. The Council allowed the tree to be crown lifted over the drive in 2014 and 2022. 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
5. Ward Members were consulted and sought clarification that it was the intention 

of the tree owner to fell it.   
 

page 9



 

 

 
OBJECTION  
 
6. Objections to the TPO have been received from the owners of the tree and 

their neighbour at 7A.  
 

7. The owners object on the following grounds:  
 

• Large branches frequently fall from the tree causing damage to the garage 
roof below and the neighbour’s roof, as well as creating an unacceptable 
health and safety hazard for the family, neighbour’s and passers-by 

• Two large branches over 6ft in length fell recently, multiple branches have 
fallen on a regular basis since the property was purchased in 2020, causing 
damage to vehicles and cracking roof tiles, this is despite maintenance 
carried out by a qualified arborist at considerable expense 

• The TPO was made after the 6-week conservation area notice period and 
a tree surgeon was booked in to implement the work  

• If the TPO is confirmed further legal advice will be taken and clarification 
will be sought over the financial and legal liability created by the imposition 
of the TPO.  

 

8. The Neighbour at 7A objects to the TPO for the following reasons: 
 

• They have lived in the property for 30 years and the tree haunts them every 
time there are strong winds. It is only a matter of time before significant 
branches fall on to the roof causing catastrophic or even fatal damage as 
their elderly mother lives in the annex and sleeps below the tree. Branches 
break off regularly breaking tiles causing water ingress which is 
compounded by the gutters being full due to access restrictions to this side 
of the house  

• Human life should be given preference over wildlife and the tree 

• They have small children who play under the tree 

• A decade ago, a large branch fell and demolished the tree owner’s garage 
which explains why the garage is now a new build.  

 
APPRAISAL 
 
9. Whilst the tree is closer to the neighbouring property than is ideal, it is fully 

mature and certainly pre-dates the neighbouring house and has been growing 
alongside the building for many decades. When making the TPO the Council 
was aware that a branch had been shed but did not consider that this indicated 
the tree was dying.  Following the conservation area tree notice the canopy of 
the tree was inspected and it appeared in good health with no obvious areas 
of dead or missing foliage or disease, nor any signs of significant deadwood. 
Trees will periodically shed dead branches and this can be managed through 
appropriate inspections and routine maintenance. The removal of deadwood 
is an exemption that applies to both conservation areas and TPO’s, meaning 
it can be removed at any time without the need to seek the Council’s 
permission.  

 
10. The TPO was made due to the distinct character of the area and it was 

considered that felling should be a last resort. It is considered that arboricultural 
advice should be taken to justify work and consider if pruning could allow the 

page 10



 

 

retention of the tree. Officers did not believe the level of branch loss indicated 
a tree in terminal decline and that it did not warrant felling. When considering 
the conservation area tree notice, Officers either had to make a TPO to protect 
the tree or simply allow its removal without the ability to condition a 
replacement.  

 
11. It is clear that the tree causes concern to both the tree owner and their 

neighbours due to its size and close proximity to the house. In light of this it 
would be considered reasonable at the very least to allow some form of pruning 
to the tree to reduce its canopy size and the risk of failure. Limes are a type of 
tree that can tolerate larger scale reductions and are quick to regenerate, 
although such work may then need to be repeated on a cyclical basis every 
few years, such work is often found on the street trees managed by 
Nottinghamshire County Council in West Bridgford.  A TPO allows applications 
to be made to both prune and remove trees, they also have the added 
advantage over a conservation area tree notice in that conditions can be used 
to secure appropriate replacement planting which would be important to help 
secure the long-term character of the area.  
 

12. The TPO was made after the 6-week conservation area tree notice, whilst the 
Council aims to make a decision within 6 weeks a TPO can be made at any 
time.  
 

13. If the Tree Preservation Order is confirmed the owner will remain responsible 
for taking reasonable care to maintain it, the liability for the tree does not pass 
to the Council.  However, there are certain circumstances where the Council 
could be liable to pay compensation for loss, or damage suffered as a result of 
either refusing consent or imposing conditions following a TPO application to 
work on a protected tree. In such circumstances the authority’s liability is 
limited. No claim can be made before an application for consent to undertake 
work on a protected tree and a claim would need to be made within 12 months 
of the authority’s decision or an appeal decision. No claim is payable in relation 
to any item that was not reasonably foreseeable within the documentation 
submitted as part of an application. Finally, no compensation is due to a person 
who failed to take reasonable steps to avert or mitigate loss or damage which 
was reasonably foreseeable, for example by not removing deadwood. In short 
this means tree owners still need to take responsibility for trees, applications 
need to specify the risk and this needs to be readily foreseeable rather than 
being a far off or general concern.  

 
14. The committee needs to decide whether or not the TPO should be confirmed 

and made permanent, this would result in the owners needing to make 
applications to prune or fell the tree and would allow conditions to be imposed 
to plant a replacement if removal was granted. If the committee decide that it 
would not be appropriate to confirm the TPO then the most appropriate course 
of action would be to revoke the TPO to enable the owners to work on the tree 
at the earliest opportunity.  

 

RECOMMENDATION  
 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Ruddington No.1 Tree Preservation 2025 is confirmed.  
 
 

 

page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with
the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller
of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and
may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Rushcliffe Borough Council - 100019419

Application Number:24/00161/FUL
Land West of Bradmore Road &
North of Wysall Road Land West Of Wysall, 
Wysall

4 scale 1:2000
page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

24/00161/FUL 
  

Applicant Exagen Development Ltd 

  

Location Land West of Bradmore Road and North of Wysall Road, Land West 
of Wysall, Wysall  

 
  

Proposal Construction, operation and subsequent decommissioning of a 
renewable energy park comprising ground mounted Solar PV with co-
located battery energy storage system (BESS) at the point of 
connection, together with associated infrastructure, access, 
landscaping and cabling 

 

  

Ward Bunny 

 
THE SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
Details of the application can be found here. 
 
1. The application site relates to two parcels of land currently in agricultural use to 

the west of the village of Wysall measuring approximately 100.96ha in total. 
 
2. The Northern Parcel, measuring approximately 65 hectares (ha) is bound to the 

north by a linear woodland, known as Old Wood. Meanwhile, the Southern 
Parcel, measuring approximately 33 hectares (ha), extends northwards from 
Wysall Road. The Southern Parcel is situated approximately 325m south of the 
Northern Parcel and the two are separated by a series of small agricultural fields. 

 
3. The site and surrounding landscape are undulating in nature and form part of 

the elevated Nottinghamshire Wolds landscape character.  
 

4. The Midshires way footpath (Wysall Footpath FP3 and Costock FP7) runs 
through the northern parcel of the application site.  

 
5. There are various agricultural holdings with associated dwellings around the 

periphery of the application site to the south of Wysall Road and on Bradmore 
Road to the east. The next closest residential properties are concentrated within 
the settlements of Wysall and Costock located c. 400m east and 1.5km west of 
the site respectively. 

 
6. Vehicular access to the northern parcel of the site is currently via the existing 

farm access track at Lodge Farm which extends westwards from Bradmore 
Road to the east of the site. 

 
7. Vehicular access to the southern Parcel of the site is currently achieved via an 

existing gated agricultural field entrance on Wysall Road on the southern 

page 15

https://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S84DWYNL0GB00


 

boundary of the Parcel, from where an access track and bridge over the 
Kingston Brook provide means of access into the agricultural field parcels. 

 
DETAILS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
8. Planning permission is sought for the construction, operation and subsequent 

decommissioning of a renewable energy park comprising ground mounted solar 
photovoltaics with co-located Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) at the 
point of connection, together with associated infrastructure, access and 
landscaping. The supporting documents state that it is estimated that the solar 
farm component of the Development would have an export capacity of up to 
49.9MW of renewable energy per year, which could provide approximately 
enough energy to power up to 17,500 homes and displace approximately 22,455 
tonnes of CO2 per annum. 

 
9. The proposed Solar PV Arrays would be laid out over both site parcels, however 

the proposed battery storage compound and grid connection infrastructure will 
be positioned within the south of the Southern Parcel, in proximity to the Point 
of Connection (POC) into the existing 132kV overhead powerline which crosses 
the Southern Parcel of the Site. 

 
10. The two site parcels would be linked by an underground cable which would 

extend from the Northern Parcel before following the route of the highway along 
Bradmore Road – Keyworth Road – Main Street – Costock Road – Wysall Road 
and eventually extending northwards into the southern boundary of the Southern 
Parcel. 

 
11. The northern parcel would accommodate 17no. MV Central Inverter Units, solar 

connection infrastructure compound, permeable 4m wide access track and 
vehicle parking, 2.5m high timber post and wire mesh deer fencing around the 
solar panel areas, pole mounted CCTV cameras. 

 
12. The southern parcel would accommodate 8no. MV Central Inverter Units, solar 

connection infrastructure compound, 70no. containerised battery energy 
storage units, 35no. containerised battery inverter units, 4no. auxiliary 
transformers, customer substation and switchgear buildings, 132kV DNO 
substation compound and transformer and control room and permeable 4m wide 
access track and vehicle parking.  
 

13. Following the initial round of consultations, and comments received from 
Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust, 522 solar panels have been removed along the 
western boundary of the northern and southern parcels to allow for the fencing 
to be moved eastwards to create a wider green connectivity corridor between 
the proposed perimeter fence and the existing boundary vegetation. This 
corridor was previously around 5m in width but is now between 15-20m. There 
have also been additional planting included in the landscape strategy.  

 
14. The proposed landscape mitigation element of the proposal would include new 

native species hedgerow, tree copse and woodland planting and gapping up of 
existing hedgerows, creation of species diverse grassland, wildflower and wet 

page 16



 

meadow area as well as enhance existing hedgerows with supplementary 
planting of native species where required. 

 
15. In terms of access improvements, a new access track to serve the northern 

parcel would be constructed slightly further south from the existing access that 
will extend west from Bradmore Road parallel to the existing farm access 
through the field, retaining the existing access for continued farm and residential 
operation. 

 
16. In relation to the southern parcel, the existing access and bridge would be 

appropriately upgraded to accommodate both construction and operational 
traffic associated with the proposed development. 
 

17. It is acknowledged that the site is immediately adjacent to a consented solar 
farm at Highfields (application Ref. 22/00303 FUL). Following concerns raised 
that this application would form an extension to the consented development and 
form a larger development which trigger the need for the development to be 
considered a nationally significant infrastructure project, the applicant has 
supplied a supporting legal opinion from Counsel. 
 

18. The applicant Counsels legal opinion sets out that the solar farms are separate 
projects and do not, individually or together, constitute a nationally significant 
infrastructure project (NSIP) for the purposes of the Planning Act 2008. The 
statement goes onto to clarify that the two solar farms have been promoted 
separately, at different times, by different developers, under different planning 
applications. They will operate independently of each other and that there is 
nothing to suggest that the solar farms should be treated as a single project for 
the purposes of the PA 2008 and there is no legal requirement for them to be 
treated as such. 
 

19. An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) (ref. 23/01010/SCREIA) was 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) for consideration in May 2023. 
The LPA considered that, given that the site is not located within a sensitive area 
for the purposes of Environmental Assessment as set out in the Regulations; 
that the potential environmental affects would be limited (as considered within 
the screening response); the temporary and reversible nature of the proposals; 
that specific matters can be further considered as part of detailed assessments 
of the application; and further mitigation could be provided as part of the 
application, it was considered that the proposals did not constitute EIA 
development. Following submission of the current application, a further 
screening assessment was undertaken by the LPA as the nature of the 
development site had changed (decreased in size). It was considered that, given 
the same considerations, that the proposal did not constitute EIA development. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Ward Member 
 
20. Ward Councillor (Cllr Edyvean) - objects on the following grounds:  
 

page 17



 

- There is permission granted for a solar farm of 49.5MW capacity adjacent to 
this application. 
 

- If this application is allowed then a total capacity of just under 100MW will be 
created, this contravenes central government guidelines as such a size of 
development should be considered as National Infrastructure to be decided 
by Central Government.  
 

- The access road proposed is wholly unsuitable for the construction traffic 
suggested. Therefore the site is inaccessible for construction purposes. If an 
electrical connection between the South and North site is required it should 
be as the crow flies between the two parts of the site. To suggest laying cable 
on the road link between the two parts is nonsensical and intrusive.  
 

- The application uses fertile agricultural land which has historically been used 
for cereal crops, we are now led to believe that this is not so. 
 

- The site despoils open countryside including a portion of the Midshires Way.  
 

- The topology of the site is such that screening will be ineffective from vantage 
points anywhere south of the site, it is debatable how effective give any 
screening will be from other viewpoints. 

 
21. Ward Councillor (Cllr Edyvean) – confirmed that the objections raised above 

remain for the revised plans. 
 
22. Adjacent Ward Councillor (Cllr Wells) – objects due to it being over intensive 

and overbearing for a rural setting. 
 
23. Adjacent Ward Councillor (Cllr Cottee) - objects on the following grounds: 
 

- There is permission granted for a solar farm of 49.5MW capacity adjacent to 
this application. If this application is allowed then a total capacity of just under 
100MW will be created, this contravenes central government guidelines as 
such a size of development should be considered as National Infrastructure 
to be decided by Central Government.  

 
- The access road proposed is wholly unsuitable for the construction traffic 

suggested. Therefore the site is inaccessible for construction purposes.  
 
- If an electrical connection between the South and North site is required it 

should be as the crow flies between the two parts of the site. To suggest 
laying cable on the road link between the two parts is nonsensical and 
intrusive. The application uses fertile agricultural land which has historically 
been used for cereal crops, we are now led to believe that this is not so. The 
site despoils open countryside including a portion of the Midshires Way.  

 
- The topology of the site is such that screening will be ineffective from vantage 

points anywhere south of the site, it is debatable how effective give any 
screening will be from other viewpoints. 

page 18



 

 
Parish Meeting and Adjacent Parish Councils/Meetings 
 
24. Costock Parish Council – Costock Parish Council has held consultations with 

residents to determine community views on this application. While there is 
inevitably a range of views and a recognition from many that there is a need for 
solar power, a number of concerns have been raised. 

 
1. The scale of this proposal is huge, especially when seen alongside the 

existing permission in this area.(22/00303/FUL). As adjacent developments 
they breach planning rules relating to the need for Central Government 
approval.  
 

2. Excess water from the site will run into Kingston Brook, this will be 
exacerbated by the foundations needed to hold the panels in place which will 
reduce the soak away capacity of the ground. This area already suffers from 
flooding and recently Kingston Brook has frequently been full to capacity and 
overflowing especially further downstream. This will cause further difficulties 
for residents of Costock and East Leake from the knock-on effects leading 
to even more flooding. 

 
3. Construction will take 24 weeks during which there will be large numbers of 

very large lorries using Wysall Road and the A60 crossroads. Wysall Road 
is wide enough for 2 cars to pass but not wide enough for 2 lorries to pass 
without straying onto already so verges. Even on a relatively quiet road this 
will cause congestion for local users. The crossroads is very busy both along 
the A60 and with vehicles from East Leake and Costock village wishing to 
use the A60. It is the one unregulated crossroads between Ruddington and 
Loughborough and there are already regular accidents. Most are fortunately 
minor but they result in stressed road users and damaged vehicles. Large 
lorries navigating both onto and out of Wysall Road will lead to impatience 
(the cause of many accidents) and danger for pedestrians who live on the 
east side of the A60 but regularly use village facilities in the centre of the 
village which is to the west of the A60. No lorries should be allowed to use 
the parking area to the east of the A60 or Old Main Road as a cut through in 
any direction 

 
25. Bunny (adjacent) Parish Council - Firstly Bunny Parish Council is very 

supportive of renewable energy schemes. They thank Exagen for listening to 
comments and revising some of their plans. However they do not feel that all 
their concerns when they objected to the project 6 months ago, during the first 
application stage, have been fully considered. 

 
26. Rempstone (adjacent) Parish Council - The scale of the development, this site 

is immediately adjacent to another solar farm which has recently gained 
planning consent, the two sites combined have a capacity of 99MW this is in 
excess of the 50MW limit before national government approval is required. It 
was felt that is a fragmented approach to applications to avoid national 
consideration. As these two sites are adjoining the Council believe the 

page 19



 

cumulative impact of both together should be considered rather than the 
Borough Council taking a piecemeal approach.  

 
The surrounding road infrastructure is not suitable for the size of vehicles 
proposed during the construction phase, many being narrow country roads, this 
will have an impact on the safety of residents who routinely use these roads. 
The land is workable land, with much previously being used for food production 
and this should take precedence. 

 
27. Wysall And Thorpe-in-the-Glebe (adjacent) Parish Council – have made the 

following comments: 
 

The Parish Councils view on the further application made by Pegasus on behalf 
of Exagen has not changed. It does nothing to address the concerns raised in 
our original objection and we remain strongly opposed to the proposal. 
Additionally, we would also make the following comments:  

 
1. There is no mention of the proposed cable that will need to run through our 

village to connect the proposed North to the South Solar Parks. We are very 
concerned that there will be large lorries traversing our rural landscape, 
navigating our narrow country roads and essentially changing the nature of 
our conservation village.  
 

2. The documents seem to propose that in 15 years when the planted 
vegetation has matured the solar parks will have very limited visual impact. 
They back this assumption with images superimposed with panels and trees.  

 
a) This poses the assumption that all newly planted trees and bushes will 

be cared for consistently over this time. This is a big demand for the 
company with the type of very hot summers we are due. 
 

b) The current Midshires walk through Wysall to Old Bunny Woods is 
extremely popular amongst villagers and beyond. The views that are 
seen of the open countryside leading up to the woods are exceptional. 
This will become essentially enclosed by the screen Exagen intend to 
plant.  

 
c) The 15 years to the alleged screen of the solar panels will be detrimental 

to the long established walk. This will affect its current users both mentally 
and physically. 

 
d) The effect of solar panels on open countryside is a form of 

industrialization. 
 
3. The effect on wildlife by covering the ground with glass coated panels is a 

concern to the council. What is proposed as mitigation such as for the 
skylarks is wholly inadequate. 

 
4. The disruption for residents and visitors re digging up the Main Street to lay 

the cable - people will not be able to park on Main Street, deliveries to the 

page 20



 

pub will be difficult. Access to the village hall and church will be impacted 
etc. We have no detailed plan regarding how long this will take, which side 
of the road would be closed etc.  

 
5. We are concerned with the fire risks associated with the battery storage unit, 

if there was a fire it would be catastrophic for the village. There is not a simple 
way to extinguish a fire at that location or prevent the spread of toxic fumes. 
We would stress that the objection submitted by the Parish Council reflects 
the views and concerns of most residents, many of whom have also privately 
objected to this application. 

 
Statutory and Other Consultees 
 
28. Nottinghamshire County Council Rights of Way Officer - No objections 

raised, development has maintained Rights of Way in current location to 
acceptable terms. The Midshires Way has been identified as a long distance 
footpath route, it is in fact an equestrian route but as this point there is a footpath 
alternative which runs through the site on the existing Public Right of Way 
(PRoW) network. The PRoW network has been accommodated on its existing 
route within wide corridors. The areas are to be sown with a wildflower mix. It is 
noted that the PRoW will remain open during the construction phase with 
suitable fencing securing the development sites on each side. It is noted that 
banksmen will be used to ensure the public are safe when materials are being 
delivered and that gates will be across the haul roads to ensure site security and 
only opened across the footpath when a vehicle movement is required, right of 
way being given to the footpath users at all times. There should not be any gates 
on the footpath itself. Should a temporary closure of the footpath be needed for 
ground works around the corridors, in order to ensure the public is safe, then a 
temporary closure (TTRO) of the Footpath may be granted to facilitate public 
safety during the construction phase subject to certain conditions. 
 
Wish to see a condition regarding the maintenance and management of the 
PRoW over the site for the duration of the construction and life of the 
development. I note there has not been any consideration over a permissive 
path around the south and south west of the site which would allow some of the 
views to be retained and thereby retain some semblance of an interesting path. 

 
29. Historic England – Originally raised  concerns regarding the application on 

heritage grounds due to the visual impact on the setting of Holy Trinity Church, 
Wysall conservation area, Highfields and Manor farmhouse. Following further 
information Historic England revised their position to state that they raise 
concerns due to the visibility of the site within the wider landscape setting and 
from areas within the site. The previous concerns regarding the aforementioned 
Heritage Assets have been alleviated.  

 
30. Nottinghamshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) No 

objection. 
 
31. Environment Agency – No objection. They advise that the proposals include 3 

instances of access roads crossing ordinary watercourses, including the 

page 21



 

Kingston Brook. The permanent structures and the associated temporary works 
may require consent under Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991. It is 
recommended that the applicant engages early with Nottinghamshire County 
Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority with details of their proposals. 

 
32. Fire Service – No objection raised, a pre-commencement condition is 

recommended to ensure appropriate risks are know and mitigated for once the 
final detail/technology of the battery storage equipment is known and that this 
information is to be submitted through a Risk Management Plan and Emergency 
Response Plan. The plan is required to include confirmation that Fire Service 
vehicles can easily access all of the site, final safety systems of the containers, 
final internal suppression system to be used, method of dealing with a fire, 
container heat output (energy density), contamination levels of gases and 
vapour and how will it be controlled. 
 

33. East Midlands Airport – No objection subject to informatives. 
 
34. Nottinghamshire County Council Archaeology Officer – Initially requested 

that further evaluation be carried out in the form of trial trenching prior to the 
application being determined. Subsequently the officer raised no objection. 
Recommends there be a planning condition for an Archaeological Mitigation 
Strategy to effectively deal with this site. 

 
35. RBC Conservation Officer - Considers that the proposal would cause harm to 

the designated heritage assets affected by the proposal with the harm to be 
towards the middle of the less than substantial scale. As the level of harm is 
considered less than substantial permission could still be granted if it is 
concluded that public benefits outweigh harm through application of the test 
within Paragraph 215, NPPF (Dec 2024). In applying this test, it should be noted 
that it is not to be applied as a simple balance. Public benefits must not simply 
outweigh harm but must do so to a sufficient degree to justify departure from the 
statutory presumption against granting planning permission arising from the 
1990 Act. 

 
36. RBC Ecology and Sustainability Officer - It is unlikely that this development 

will have a detrimental impact on populations of protected species provided the 
proposed reasonable avoidance measures, mitigation and enhancements are 
implemented. 

 
However, the only bird of conservation concern recorded in high numbers within 
the fields themselves being the skylark, partial on-site mitigation is proposed 
and should be implemented, however this is likely to lead to a permanent 
negative impact. Reasonable avoidance measures for other birds is proposed 
which should also be implemented. 

 
I note this application is exempt from mandatory net gain as the application 
predates the enactment of that requirement, however Biodiversity Net gain is 
required under planning policy. 

 

page 22



 

The Biodiversity Net Gain Plan / Landscape and Ecology Management Plan and 
associated landscape plans delivering this biodiversity gain should be agreed 
by the local planning authority. This should be a condition of any planning 
permission and secured via a planning obligation. Additionally, a Habitat 
Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) should be submitted to the planning 
authority and approved by the planning authority. This should be a condition of 
any planning permission and then secured by a planning obligation. 

 
37. Active Travel England – Content with the application.  
 
38. Canal River Trust – advises that this application falls outside the notified area 

for its application scale and location. We are therefore returning this application. 
 

39. Severn Trent – No objection, recommends a condition in relation to foul water 
discharge. 

 
40. Natural England – No objection - advise that the application falls outside the 

scope of the Development Management Procedure Order (as amended) 
consultation arrangements, as the proposed development would not appear to 
lead to the loss of over 20 ha ‘best and most versatile’ (BMV) agricultural land. 
The ALC survey provided indicates that the land is Grade 3b or 4. For this 
reason, we do not propose to make any detailed comments in relation to 
agricultural land quality and soils, although sustainable soil management should 
aim to minimise risks to the ecosystem services which soils provide, through 
appropriate site design / masterplan / Green Infrastructure. Natural England 
would advise that any grant of planning permission should be made subject to 
conditions to safeguard soil resources, including the provision of soil resource 
information in line with the Defra guidance Construction Code of Practice for the 
Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites. 

 
41. Nottinghamshire Police – No holding objection but requests an informative. 

 
42. Network Rail - No observations. 

 
43. Wildlife Trust - We are of the view that amendments are required to the layout 

and landscaping to secure an adequate buffer to LWS and ASNW at the 
northern boundary of the proposed solar farm. Furthermore, a robust cumulative 
impact assessment and mitigation is required, especially in relation to impact on 
breeding skylarks. We therefore wish to submit an objection to this application. 

 
44. Nottinghamshire County Council Highway Authority - Initially raised a number 

of concerns. Following receipt of a revised Transport Statement (TS) and a 
revised Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) and a Highways 
Technical Note, raised no objection. Recommends conditions in relation to 
passing bays, condition survey and wheel washing.  

 
45. National Highways – Initially considered that there was insufficient information 

and requested that no decision be made for 3 months to enable further 
information to be provided. Following the submission of further information and 
clarification, no objection is raised. 

page 23



 

 
46. Sport England – The application does not fall within our statutory remit or non-

statutory remit. Refers to standard general guidance and advice.  
 
47. RBC Environmental Health – No objection. Recommends conditions in relation 

to updated noise survey and construction method statement, external lighting. 
 

48. RBC Planning Policy – No objection, raises issues for consideration including 
cumulative impact, flood risk and impact on recreational users of the footpaths.  

 
49. Local Residents and the General Public  
 

192 written representations have been received. 186 representations raise 
objections and 4 representations write in support.  

 
The objections raised are summarised below  

 
a. Rural location 
b. Inadequate proposed screening of panels due to gradient of land 
c. Oversized  
d. Impact on open countryside & adjacent greenbelt  
e. Harm to Wildlife & habitat   
f. The adverse landscape and visual impact 
g. 40 years is not a temporary period 
h. Reducing the UK's valuable food production capacity 
i. Noise Pollution  
j. Negative impact on protected species  
k. Potential adverse impact the development may have on the local road 

network 
l. The addition of construction and maintenance HGVs will be a serious 

safety concern 
m. Inappropriate site 
n. Country Lanes already in dire condition & very narrow  
o. Green Spaces should be protected 
p. It would have a harmful impact on views from local footpaths next to the 

site 
q. Adjacent to another large solar farm 
r. Glint & Glare 
s. Fire safety concerns  
t. Toxic Gases 
u. Loss of Heritage Land & a Long-standing Public Right of Way  
v. Alternative sites be explored 
w. Impact on Bunny Old Wood which is a 'protected' historic site (ancient 

woodland)   
x. Affect on the conservation area and many listed buildings  
y. Flooding of Kingston Brook  
z. It would lead to the loss of agricultural land and harm food security 
aa. Concerns raised by the Fire Service 
bb. Loss of Productive Farmland 

page 24



 

cc. The development will destroy underlying known and unknown 
archaeology 

dd. Affect on bees and pollinating insects 
ee. Increased pressure on local drainage 
ff. Approved Highfields solar site adjacent, total site will be immense and in 

excess of the 49.5 MW which will require government approval 
gg. Water Pollution  
hh. Over development in local area 
ii. Light pollution at night and loss of privacy through cameras 
jj. Proposed access road brings concern for traffic, cyclists, horse riders and 

pedestrians 
kk. Affect on the conservation area 
ll. Contamination of Kingston Brook  
mm. Negative impact on local businesses  
nn. Cable Laying - proposal to join the two sites 
oo. Highway Safety  
pp. Access to the site from the A60 

 
50. Comments in support received are summarised as below: 
 

a. Good access to the National Grid 
b. Suitable Site 
c. Suitable livestock can be grazed between panels 
d. Appropriate screening of native hedges  
e. The installation of renewable energy generation to meet NetZero targets 

 
51. The full comments received from all consultees can be found here. 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
52. The Development Plan for Rushcliffe consists of The Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 

1: Core Strategy 2014 and The Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 
Policies 2019. The overarching policies in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (the NPPF) are also relevant, particularly where the Development 
Plan is silent. 

 
Relevant National Planning Policies and Guidance 
 
53. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) includes a presumption in 

favour of sustainable development. Local Planning Authorities should approach 
decision making in a positive way to foster the delivery of sustainable 
development and look for solutions rather than problems, seeking to approve 
applications where possible. In assessing and determining development 
proposals, local planning authorities should apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. Development proposals that accord with the 
development plan should be determined without delay. Where the development 
plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, permission should be 
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
Framework taken as a whole. 

page 25

https://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=makeComment&keyVal=S84DWYNL0GB00


 

 
54. The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 

achievement of sustainable development. There are three dimensions to 
sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. The 
environmental role refers to 'contributing to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment.' As such, the following national policies 
in the NPPF with regard to achieving sustainable development are considered 
most relevant to this planning application: 
 

55. The following sections in the NPPF with regard to achieving sustainable 
development are considered most relevant to this planning application: 
 

• Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development 

• Chapter 4 - Decision making  

• Chapter 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities  

• Chapter 12 - Achieving Well Designed Places 

• Chapter 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change  

• Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

• Chapter 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment.  
 
56. A copy of the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 can be found here. 

 
57. A copy of the Planning Practice Guidance can be found here. 
 
58.  A material consideration in the determination of planning proposals for 

renewable energy are the National Policy Statements (NPS) for the delivery of 
major energy infrastructure. The NPSs recognise that large scale energy 
generating projects will inevitably have impacts, particularly if sited in rural 
areas. The revised Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) 
and the National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3) 
came into force on the 17th January 2024. The NPSs can be a material 
consideration in decision making on applications that both exceed or sit under 
the thresholds for nationally significant projects.  

 
59. Furthermore, the UK Government has declared a climate emergency and set a 

statutory target of achieving net zero emissions by 2050, and this is also a 
material consideration. Since the declaration, the Sixth Assessment Report of 
the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has indicated that there is a 
greater than 50% chance that global temperature increases will exceed 1.5 
degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. The report indicates that delay in 
global action to address climate change will miss a rapidly narrowing window of 
opportunity to secure a liveable and sustainable future for all. 
 

60. As the proposal has the potential to have any impact on the setting of heritage 
assets, there is specific legislation which also forms a material consideration, 
which is as follows. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which they possess, section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 

page 26

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
conservation areas. 

 
Relevant Local Planning Policies and Guidance 
  
61. Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 

• Policy 1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

• Policy 2 Climate Change 

• Policy 10 Design and Enhancing Local Identity 

• Policy 11 Historic Environment 

• Policy 15 Transport Infrastructure Priorities 

• Policy 17 Biodiversity. 
 

62. Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies 

• Policy 1 Development Requirements 

• Policy 16 Renewable Energy 

• Policy 17 Managing Flood Risk 

• Policy 18 Surface Water Management 

• Policy 19 Development Affecting Watercourses 

• Policy 22 Development in the Countryside  

• Policy 28 Conserving and Enhancing Heritage Assets 

• Policy 29 Development affecting Archaeological Sites 

• Policy 32 Recreational Open Space 

• Policy 33 Local Green Space 

• Policy 34 Green Infrastructure and Open Space Assets 

• Policy 37 Trees and Woodlands 

• Policy 38 Non-Designated Biodiversity Assets & Wider Ecological 
Network 

• Policy 40 Pollution and Land Contamination 

• Policy 41 (Air Quality) 
 
63. The policies in the Core Strategy and Local Plan Part 2 are available in full along 

with any supporting text here. 
  

APPRAISAL 
 
Principle of Development 
 
64. The NPPF also states that when determining planning applications for 

renewable/low carbon energy developments, local planning authorities should 
not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable/low carbon 
energy and even small-scale projects can provide a valuable contribution to 
cutting greenhouse gas emissions.  

 
65. Renewable energy projects are also supported by Policy 16 Renewable Energy 

of the LPP2 which states that “proposals for renewable energy schemes will be 
granted planning permission where they are acceptable in terms of: 

 

page 27

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planning-growth/planning-policy/local-plan/


 

a. compliance with Green Belt policy: 
b. landscape and visual effects; 
c. ecology and biodiversity; 
d. best and most versatile agricultural land; 
e. the historic environment; 
f. open space and other recreational uses; 
g. amenity of nearby properties; 
h. grid connection; 
i. form and siting; 
j. mitigation; 
k. the decommissioning and reinstatement of land at the end of the 

operational life of the development; 
l. cumulative impact with existing and proposed development; 
m. emissions to ground, water courses and/or air; 
n. odour; 
o. vehicular access and traffic; and 
p. proximity of generating plants to the renewable energy source. 

 
66. The principle of the proposed development is readily supported by both national 

and local policy, including adopted local policy support for renewable energy 
generation provided there are no unacceptable impacts. 

 
67. In accordance with the NPPF, the adverse impacts of renewable energy 

generation need to be addressed satisfactorily. It is the impacts of proposals for 
renewable energy generation that need to be considered rather than the 
principle of such development. Renewable energy proposals need to be 
considered favourably within the context that even if a proposal provides no local 
benefits, the energy produced should be considered a national benefit that can 
be shared by all communities and therefore this national benefit is a material 
consideration which should be given significant weight. There is strong in 
principle support for the proposed renewable energy development. This needs 
to be considered against the impacts of the proposal and the two are weighed 
which is a planning judgement subject to other material considerations and 
assessed below. 

 
Landscape/Visual impact 
 
68. The application site is not located within the Green Belt, and therefore criteria 

‘a’ of Policy 22 is not relevant. However, the site is located within the open 
countryside and as such Policy 22 of LPP2 is engaged. 

 
69. Policy 16 of LPP2 requires development for renewable energy to be acceptable 

in terms of the impact on the landscape and visual impact. Policy 22 of LPP2, 
seeks to ensure that the open countryside is conserved and enhanced for the 
sake of its intrinsic character and beauty, the diversity of its landscapes, heritage 
and wildlife, the wealth of its natural resources, and to ensure it may be enjoyed 
by all. 

 
70. Policy 22 goes onto state that development will be permitted subject to the 

appearance and character of the landscape, including its historic character and 

page 28



 

features such as habitats, views, settlement pattern, rivers, watercourses, field 
patterns, industrial heritage and local distinctiveness is conserved and 
enhanced. 

 
71. Within the solar farm landscape sensitivity and capacity study, the site falls 

within the landscape assessment unit of LAU A Gotham and West Leake 
Wooded Hills and Scarps as well as the regional character of the 
Nottinghamshire Wolds. The study describes the landscape as largely rural with 
mostly modern field patterns, though small pockets of irregular and smaller scale 
historic field pattern do exist.  
 

72. The landscape is identified as being in overall good condition with hedgerows, 
woodland and agricultural land well managed. In terms of sensitivity the 
landscape is judged to be of medium sensitivity, as a result of its medium value 
and medium susceptibility to change, although the indicative capacity for large 
scale development is shown to be low. 

 
73. A landscape and visual impact assessment (LVIA) has been submitted in 

support of the application. This document describes the impact on the landscape 
from the proposed development initially and then also after the landscape 
mitigation has fully established.  

 
74. This document, submitted by the applicant, concludes that, in terms of the 

impact on the landscape character there was a moderate adverse impact on the 
character in year 1 reducing down to minor adverse at year 15.  

 
75. With regard to visual amenity, some of the assessed view points (Viewpoint 5, 

Viewpoint 7, and Viewpoint 8) were acknowledged to result in major adverse 
impact effects in winter. These were expected to reduce down to negligible at 
year 15 or moderate adverse at Viewpoint 8.  
 

76. Road users travelling along Wysall Road would experience direct and relatively 
close range views resulting in major adverse effects along approx. 550 m long 
section of the road.  
 

77. In terms of residential amenity, the LVIA has identified the residents at Five Oaks 
Stables and Scotland Hill Farm would be subject to moderate adverse effects at 
most, in winter views at Year 1, with the residual effects negligible. 
 

78. An independent review (instructed by the Council) of the applicant’s LVIA has 
been undertaken by Wyn Williams landscape architects. The review disagrees 
with some of the points made in the conclusions by the supplied LVIA, these 
points are described below. 
 

79. The LVIA sets out the planting proposals will have a wholly positive influence on 
the landscape character, whereas the review considers the planting to be 
incongruent with existing field patterns and would prevent users of the footpath 
from appreciating their location within the valley landscape, changing the 
perceived sense of place and character, as open views would become enclosed 
and constrained. 

page 29



 

 
80. In terms of the cumulative impact, the independent review considers the 

introduction of solar arrays and associated infrastructure on the combined scale 
proposed by the two (application Ref. 22/0030/FUL Highfields Farm and this 
current application) solar farms would represent a notable change away from 
baseline landscape character and visual amenity, with the overall cumulative 
impact being underestimated by the LVIA. 
 

81. Overall, there is a disagreement on the residual impact after the landscape 
mitigation has established with the view expressed that the impact is unlikely to 
reduce down to a negligible impact, and more likely to remain as a moderate or 
minor adverse impact at year 15. 
 

82. Both the submitted LVIA and independent review are largely aligned in terms of 
the initial impact from the proposed development being major adverse. Officers 
are of the view that the review by Wyn Williams is a more accurate reflection of 
the overall impact on landscape character in the longer term. It is acknowledged 
and agreed that the landscape mitigation would reduce the visual impact of the 
proposed development and this would continue to reduce as the planting 
becomes more established and higher, however, it is also acknowledged that 
this planting would not be in keeping with existing field patterns and therefore 
not wholly positive, as put forward by the LVIA.  
 

83. In this regard, there is an identified conflict with the aims of Policy 16 b) and 
Policy 22 of LPP2, in that the proposed development would result in harm to the 
landscape character from a visual and cumulative impact from the adjacent 
approved solar farm development.  
 

Residential Amenity 
 

84. In terms of the impact on the amenity of nearby properties and impact on health 
Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) of the LPP1 states that 
development will be assessed in terms of its treatment of the impact on the 
amenity of nearby residents.  
 

85. Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the LPP2 states that permission for 
new development will be granted where “there is no significant adverse effect 
upon the amenity, particularly residential amenity and adjoining properties or the 
surrounding area, by reason of the type and levels of activity on the site, or traffic 
generated”. 
 

86. Policy 39 (Health Impacts of Development) of the LPP2 states that "the potential 
for achieving positive health outcomes will be taken into account when 
considering development proposals. Where any significant adverse impacts are 
identified, the applicant will be expected to demonstrate how these will be 
addressed and mitigated”. 
 

87. Policy 40 (Pollution and Land Contamination) of the LPP2 states that 
"permission will not be granted for development which would result in an 

page 30



 

unacceptable level of pollution or is likely to result in unacceptable exposure of 
sources of pollution or risks to safety". 
 

88. Policy 40 also states Proposals for development must identify potential nuisance 
issues arising from the nature of the proposal and address impacts on that 
development from existing land uses. The supporting text to Policy 40 goes onto 
explain that nuisance issues, for example noise, dust and odour can have a 
significant impact on the quality of life, community cohesion, health and amenity.  
 

89. The site is located in a rural location with various agricultural holdings and 
associated dwellings around the periphery of the application site to the south of 
Wysall Road and on Bradmore Road to the east. The next closest residential 
properties are concentrated within the settlements of Wysall and Costock 
located c. 400m east and 1.5km west of the site respectively. However, an 
assessment of the potential impact on residential amenity is a material 
consideration having regard to the highlighted policy guidance above. 
 

90. The application is supported by a noise impact assessment based on a worst-
case scenario as well as a glint and glare assessment which carried out a study 
on the impact on 44 dwellings closest to the site.  
 

91. The report concludes rating levels due to noise from the proposed development, 
either in isolation or in combination with the consented Highfields Solar Farm 
would be below the level of adverse impact and given the report asserts a worst-
case scenario then it is not considered that there would be significant adverse 
impacts with respect to noise. 
 

92. The Environmental Health department have had a careful regard to the 
submitted documents and raised no objection to the proposal, subject to 
condition.  
 

93. In light of the above, it is considered that the proposal would accord with the 
aims of Policies 1 and 39 of the LPP2. It is also considered to comply with criteria 
g ), f) and j) of Policy 16. Although the recommended conditions in relation to an 
updated noise survey based on precise details of the equipment to be installed, 
lighting assessment and construction method statement condition are 
considered appropriate to attach to any grant of planning permission in order to 
safeguard residential amenity. With such conditions in place, the proposed 
development is considered to accord with Policy 40. 
 

94. In relation to air pollution, Policy 41 (Air Quality) of the LPP2 states that "planning 
permission will not be granted for development proposals that have the potential 
to adversely impact on air quality, unless measures to mitigate or offset their 
emissions and impacts have been incorporated".  
 

95. The nature of the proposed development mean that no odour or harmful 
emissions would be generated during the operational stage, therefore, the 
proposed development is considered to be in alignment with Policy 41 of the 
LPP2 regarding air quality.  

 

page 31



 

Airport Safety  
 
96. With regard to matters relating to airport safety The East Midlands Airport 

Safeguarding team have been consulted and had regard to the submitted Glint 
and Glare assessment. The airport safety team have not raised an objection to 
the proposal but requested a number of informatives to ensure compliance with 
aerodrome safeguarding of aircraft. These informatives are considered 
appropriate to attach to any grant of planning permission. 

 
Heritage Matters including Archaeology  

 
97. There are a number of heritage assets within close proximity to the application 

site. Holy Trinity Church, dates form the 12th century and is Grade I listed.  Manor 
Farmhouse to the west of the settlement is primarily 17th to 18th century and 
Highfields is to the west of the main settlement and likely to be of 18th century 
origins. Both of these buildings are grade II listed. Wysall Conservation Area is 
located to the east of the site.  

 
98. Chapter 16 of the NPPF addresses the historic environment. It identifies heritage 

assets as 'an irreplaceable resource' and notes that "they should be conserved 
in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for 
their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations". 

 
99.  Policy 11 (Historic Environment) of LPP1 states that "proposals and initiatives 

will be supported where the historic environment and heritage assets and their 
settings are conserved and/or enhanced in line with their interest and 
significance." It goes on to state that elements of particular importance include 
Registered Parks and Gardens and prominent Listed Buildings. 

  
100. Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the LPP1 states that permission for 

new development will be granted where "there is no significant adverse effect 
on any historic sites and their settings including listed buildings, buildings of local 
interest, conservation areas, scheduled ancient monuments, and historic parks 
and gardens".  
 

101. Policy 16 (Renewable Energy) of the LPP2 states that renewable energy 
schemes must be acceptable in terms the historic environment. Policy 28 
(Conserving and Enhancing Heritage Assets) of the LPP2 states that "proposals 
that affect heritage assets will be required to demonstrate an understanding of 
the significance of the assets and their settings, identify the impact of the 
development upon them and provide a clear justification for the development in 
order that a decision can be made as to whether the merits of the proposals for 
the site bring public benefits which decisively outweigh any harm arising from 
the proposals." It then goes on to set out the criteria against which proposals 
affecting a heritage asset will be considered, including the significance of the 
asset and whether the proposals would be sympathetic to the character and 
appearance of the heritage asset. 
 

102. The proposal has been reviewed by the conservation officer and Historic 
England, with the overall conclusion made that the proposal would alter the 

page 32



 

contribution the rural landscape makes to the character and significance of the 
conservation area and the historic buildings from certain viewpoints. The level 
of harm has been identified as being the medium level of less than substantial 
harm. The level of harm needs to be weighed in relation to the public benefits of 
the scheme which is undertaken within the Planning Balance section of the 
report. 
 

103. In terms of archaeology, the site has been subject to a number of trial trenching 
and initial investigation works. The work carried out to date has demonstrated 
there is multi-phase archaeological activity across large parts of the application 
site. The County Archaeology Officer has advised that mitigation measures are 
required and that options for these would be informed by a second phase of 
trenching. Conditions are recommended to be attached to any grant of planning 
permission which would secure an appropriate scheme of archaeological 
investigation and appropriate mitigation. With such conditions in place, it is 
considered that important archaeological remains at the site would be 
adequately protected.  
 

104. Overall, it is considered that there is a degree of conflict with the aims Policy 11 
(Historic Environment) of LPP1 and Policy 16 (Renewable Energy) of the LPP2, 
by virtue of the identified less than substantial harm described above. This is to 
be assessed in the Planning Balance below.  

 
Highway safety and rights of way 

 
105. With regard to vehicular access and traffic, Paragraph 116 of the NPPF states 

"Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe". 
 

106. Policy 15 (Transport Infrastructure Priorities) of the LPP1 states that "new 
development, singly or in combination with other proposed development, must 
include a sufficient package of measures to ensure that... residual car trips will 
not severely impact on the wider transport system in terms of its effective 
operation". 
 

107. Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the LPP2 states that permission for 
new development will be granted where "a suitable means of access can be 
provided to the development without detriment to the amenity of adjacent 
properties or highway safety and the provision of parking is in accordance with 
advice provided by the Highways Authority".  
 

108. Policy 16 (Renewable Energy) of the LPP2 states that renewable energy 
schemes must be acceptable in terms of vehicular access and traffic. 
 

109. Improvements to access points at the northern and southern parcels of the site 
are included in the proposal, as are widening small sections of Bradmore Road.   
 

110. The concerns from local residents on the impact on local roads are noted. While 
the majority of disruption would come on the initial set up of the proposed 

page 33



 

development, officers are mindful that a significant number of commercial 
vehicles would be required to use small lanes especially to serve the northern 
parcel of the site.  

 
111. The Highway Authority and National Highways have been consulted as part of 

the application process and following the submission of further information and 
a revised transport statement have confirmed that no objections are raised on 
highway safety grounds. There are a number of recommended conditions in 
relation to the condition survey of the highway surfacing of accesses, and wheel 
washing facilities.  
 

112. It is therefore considered that with the inclusion of the recommended conditions, 
with the exception of wheel washing which is covered by separate legislation, 
the proposed development would be acceptable from a safety perspective and 
accord with policies 1 and o) of policy 16 of the Local Plan Part 2 and guidance 
contained within the NPPF. 
 

113. In terms of the impact on the rights of ways running through the application site, 
it is noted that the Rights of Way officer has not raised any objection to the 
proposal and recommended that the proposed protection and management 
measures during construction are secured via condition.  
 

114. Given the above, it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of the 
impact on rights of way and the recommended condition considered appropriate 
to attach to any grant of planning permission. 
 

Ecology/biodiversity 
 

115. Policy 17 (Biodiversity) of the LPP1 states "the biodiversity of Rushcliffe will be 
increased by: 
 
a) protecting, restoring, expanding and enhancing existing areas of biodiversity 

interest, including areas and networks of priority habitats and species listed 
in the UK and Nottinghamshire Local Biodiversity Action Plans; 
 

b) ensuring that fragmentation of the Green Infrastructure network is avoided 
wherever possible and improvements to the network benefit biodiversity, 
including at a landscape scale, through the incorporation of existing habitats 
and the creation of new habitats; 
 

c) seeking to ensure new development provides new biodiversity features, and 
improves existing biodiversity features wherever appropriate; 

 
d) supporting the need for the appropriate management and maintenance of 

existing and created habitats through the use of planning conditions, 
planning obligations and management agreements; and 

 
e) ensuring that where harm to biodiversity is unavoidable, and it has been 

demonstrated that no alternative sites or scheme designs are suitable, 

page 34



 

development should as a minimum firstly mitigate and if not possible 
compensate at a level equivalent to the biodiversity value of the habitat lost”. 

 
116. The policy goes on to protect designated national and local sites of biological 

and geological important for nature conservation and states that development 
on or affecting other, non-designated sites or wildlife corridors with biodiversity 
value will only be permitted where overriding need for the development. 
 

117. Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the LPP2 states that permission for 
new development will be granted where there are no significant adverse effects 
on important wildlife interests and where possible, the application demonstrates 
net gains in biodiversity.  
 

118. Policy 16 (Renewable Energy) of the LPP2 states that renewable energy 
schemes must be acceptable in terms of ecology and biodiversity. 
 

119. Policy 38 non-designated biodiversity assets and the wider ecological network 
 

1. Where appropriate, all developments will be expected to preserve, restore 
and re-create priority habitats and the protection and recovery of priority 
species in order to achieve net gains in biodiversity 
 

2. Developments that significantly affect a priority habitat or species should 
avoid, mitigate or as a last resort compensate any loss or effects 

 
3. In order to ensure Rushcliffe’s ecological network is preserved and 

enhanced, development within Biodiversity Opportunity Areas should: 
a) retain and sympathetically incorporate locally valued and important 

habitats, including wildlife corridors and stepping stones; and 
b) be designed in order to minimise disturbance to habitats and species 

 
4. Outside of the Biodiversity Opportunity Areas developments should, where 

appropriate, seek to achieve net gains in biodiversity and improvements to 
the ecological network through the creation, protection and enhancement of 
habitats, and the incorporation of features that benefit biodiversity. 

 
120. The application has been supported by a preliminary ecological appraisal, a 

Great Crested Newt (GCN) survey and a net gain assessment. The proposal 
has been reviewed by the Borough ecologist who has advised that no nationally 
designated sites are likely to be affected by the proposal and that the local 
wildlife sites close to the site would have a negligible impact which could be 
mitigated with reasonable avoidance measures in place.  
 

121. The Borough Ecologists also goes onto state that the proposal is unlikely to have 
a detrimental impact on populations of protected species provided the proposed 
reasonable avoidance measures, mitigation and enhancements are 
implemented.  
 

page 35



 

122. The comments made in relation to the need for a GCN site mitigation license if 
the developer chooses not to use DLL are noted, as well as the need for the 
recommended mitigation for grass snakes and brown hare to be implemented. 
 

123. However, it is noted that skylarks are identified as being of conservation concern 
and that even with the partial on-site mitigation, the proposal is likely to lead to 
a permanent negative impact on this species of bird. Mitigation for skylarks is 
proposed by providing approximately 3.62ha of arable land with a set-aside or 
spring-sown crop within the south eastern corner of the northern parcel of the 
site. This land is to be retained as an open unpanelled area to provide enhanced 
nesting habitat for skylarks. Displacement of remaining skylark territories into 
suitable neighbouring habitats is further mitigated for through the proposed 
grassland enhancement within the panelled fields which will increasing their 
suitability as a skylark foraging source above that of previously arable land. 
Nevertheless, there will still be a negative residual effect for skylarks. Skylarks, 
as with all birds species are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981. However they are not protected in the same way as Bats or Great crested 
Newts which are European Protected Species under the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.   
 

124. Recommendations within the surveys are made in relation to mitigation and 
enhancement, which could be secured by condition to any grant of planning 
permission. 
 

125. In terms of BNG, the proposed development is exempt from mandatory net gain 
as the application predates the enactment of that requirement, however 
Biodiversity Net gain is required under planning policy.  
 

126. A Biodiversity Net Gain assessment has been submitted and demonstrates a 
0.38 unit (2.77%) gain in area habitats and 0.99 unit (34.23%) gain in hedgerow 
habitats. This has been assessed and considered to be in accordance with the 
aims of Policy 38 of the LPP2. 
 

127. In light of the above, it is considered that due to the identified impact to Skylarks 
habitat, there is a degree of conflict with Policy 38 of the LPP2. However, with 
recommended mitigation and reasonable avoidance measures secured by 
condition, the conflict would be limited. However, this needs to be assessed and 
weighed in the planning balance. 
 

Flood Risk 
 

128. Policy 2 (Climate Change) of the LPP1 states that "Development proposals that 
avoid areas of current and future flood risk and which do not increase the risk of 
flooding elsewhere and where possible reduce flood risk, adopting the 
precautionary principle to development, will be supported".  
 

129. Policy 17 (Managing Flood Risk) of the LPP2 states that "planning permission 
will be granted for development in areas where a risk of flooding or problems of 
surface water disposal exists provided that the sequential test and exception 
test are applied and satisfied in accordance with the NPPF and NPPG [and] 

page 36



 

development does not increase the risk of flooding on the site, or elsewhere" 
amongst other things. It goes on to state that "development proposals in areas 
of flood risk will only be considered when accompanied by a site-specific flood 
risk assessment. Proposals will be expected to include mitigation measures 
which protected the site and manage any residual flood risk".  
 

130. Policy 18 (Surface Water Management) of the LPP2 states that "to increase the 
levels of water attenuation, storage and water quality, and where appropriate, 
development must, at an early stage in the design process, identify opportunities 
to incorporate a range of deliverable Sustainable Drainage Systems, 
appropriate to the size and type of development. The choice of drainage 
systems should comply with the drainage hierarchy." It goes on to state 
"planning permission will be granted for development which is appropriately 
located taking account of the level of flood risk and which promote the 
incorporation of appropriate mitigation measures into new development, such 
as sustainable drainage systems" amongst other things. 
 

131. Policy 19 of LPP2 states that the Council will support development proposals 
that provide a minimum 10 metre buffer where physically feasible between the 
watercourse and the development site which is free of built development and 
includes a long term landscape and ecological management plan for this buffer.  
 

132. Whilst the site would be within 10 metres of the Kingston Brook, this relates only 
to the access arrangements to the southern parcel of the land and connectivity 
to the existing pylon therein which sits adjacent to the Brook. Therefore, 
although not free of built development, given the connection and access 
arrangements required it is not considered physically feasible to require a full 10 
metre buffer due to the nature of the works proposed adjacent to the Kingston 
Brook and that is where the existing access and point of connection sits. The 
location of the panels themselves and the remainder of the development would 
all fall outside the 10m buffer to the Kingston Brook.  
 

133. There are other parts of the scheme which fall within a 10m buffer to a 
watercourse however these are considered to be small land drainage 
ditch/streams and whilst free of built development and the panels themselves, it 
is not considered reasonable to require a full 10m buffer in this instance. Further, 
as the watercourses themselves are free from built form, the proposal for the 
buffers adjacent to these watercourses include long term landscape provision 
and ecological management plans which are recommended to be secured by 
condition. 
 

134. In terms of technical consultee responses, the Environment Agency have been 
consulted and have no comments to make on the application. The Lead Local 
Flood Authority have also been consulted on the proposal and raised no 
objection.  
 

135. In relation to compliance with National and local policy guidance, revised plans 
have been submitted with the most recent flood zones marked on which confirm 
that  all electrical aspects  of the development lies entirely within Flood Zone 1, 
defined as land having low probability of flooding (i.e. less than 1 in 1000 annual 

page 37



 

probability of river or sea flooding) and outside of the modelled surface water 
flood events. 
 

136. However, a small section of the site is located within flood zone 2/3 which 
contains the access crossing Kingston Brook into the Southern part of the site. 
In line with the guidance within Para’s 173-177 of the NPPF, the development 
should be subject to the sequential and exception test. 
 

137. The applicant has provided information of the consideration to alternative 
access arrangements to avoid flood zone 2/3 and stated that no alternative could 
be found due to access between the north and south parcels being through 3rd 
party land with the owners not interested in granting rights of easement. Access 
options to the west were discounted due to this being through the consented 
solar farm site and access from the east unavailable due to the existing village. 
Alternative access from the south would involve crossing the Kingston Brook 
which runs parallel with the southern boundary and this proposal utilises an 
existing access and bridge over the Kingston Brook. It is considered therefore 
that, given the site access to the southern parcel of land is existing and 
alternative options are unavailable, officers are satisfied that the proposed 
access arrangement is considered to have been through a sequential risk based 
approach as required by Para 173 of the NPPF and that there are no alternative 
access options for the southern parcel that do not involve crossing the area of 
Flood Zone 2/3. 
 

138. As the proposed development is classified as Essential Infrastructure and the 
Site is partly located within Flood Zone 3, the exception test is required as 
outlined in Table 2 ‘Flood risk and coastal change’ guidance 
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change). The exception 
test requires the Development to demonstrate the following: 
 

• Developments that have to be in a flood risk area will provide wider 
sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk; and 
 

• The development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the 
vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and where 
possible, will reduce flood risk overall. 

 
139. The proposed development is a solar farm with BESS which aligns the UK 

government plan to reach clean power by 2030 and therefore officers are 
satisfied the first requirement of the exception test.  
 

140. The submitted FRA has highlighted that the flood risk to the application site is 
considered to be Low/ Very Low for all sources of flooding. All electrical 
infrastructure is located in Flood Zone 1 and raised above surface water flood 
depths and as such officers are satisfied that point two of the exception test is 
met. 
 

141. In relation to surface water flooding, the applicant has set out how the design of 
the development has considered this constraint. All electrically sensitive 
infrastructure is located outside of these including BESS units, inverters and the 

page 38

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fflood-risk-and-coastal-change&data=05%7C02%7CGElliott%40rushcliffe.gov.uk%7Cf6db33108ca74543060008dd96da0962%7C0fb26f95b29d4825a41a86c75ea1246a%7C0%7C0%7C638832585453269825%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=TVWuJxZ2tm1u%2FP4R1wNrfWpsW5AW1AWY4aeSaTv%2FIx8%3D&reserved=0


 

substation. Some solar panels are located in the areas subject to surface water 
flooding however these panels are raised slightly to ensure that the bottom edge 
of the panels is at least 300mm above the modelled depth of surface water 
flooding, thereby ensuring all electrically sensitive equipment is located above 
the modelled flood extent. In the worst case locations the lower edge of the 
panels would be 1.2m above ground meaning the maximum height of panels in 
these areas would be 3.5m. 
 

142. Furthermore, the proposal includes details within the flood risk and drainage 
assessment of an attenuation basin feature which would hold surface water run 
off before discharging into the Kingston Brook. Recommendations are made 
within the submitted reports in relation to surface water management and 
maintenance.   
 

143. Subject to a condition to secure the recommendations detailed in the report, the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation to surface water 
management and flood risk and would accord with policies 17, 18 and 19 LPP2. 
 

Fire Safety 
 

144. The issue of Fire safety has been central to other development schemes for 
solar energy production and battery storage. It is acknowledged that this type of 
development represents a relatively new technology which relies on lithium 
batteries being used to store electricity. The lithium batteries get very hot and 
so need to be kept cool constantly to prevent the build-up of excessive heat and 
risk of fire. In the event that the batteries catch alight, they give off toxic fumes 
and as they do not respond to water, cannot successfully be put out.  
 

145. Accordingly, the comments from the Fire Safety Officer have been sought on 
this matter. A number of consultation responses have been received by the Fire 
Safety Officer which required further information to be supplied.  
 

146. In response to this, a suggested condition which requires the submission of a 
Risk Management Plan and Emergency Response Plan has been put forward 
to the fire safety officer. The suggested condition requires the plan to be 
developed in conjunction with the Nottinghamshire Rescue service using the 
best practice guidance as detailed and required in the published Grid Scale 
Battery Storage Energy Storage planning - Guidance for Fire and Rescue 
Services (FRS) published by National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC). 
 

147. The plan is required to include confirmation that Fire Service vehicles can easily 
access all of the site, final safety systems of the containers, final internal 
suppression system to be used, method of dealing with a fire, container heat 
output (energy density), contamination levels of gases and vapour and how will 
it be controlled. Given that the finalised detail of the development in relation to 
the above matters is to be provided once known, it is considered that the detail 
can be satisfactorily and appropriately secured by condition. 
 

148. The Fire Safety Officer has confirmed that the suggested condition is 
appropriate and would invite a further consultation once precise details are 

page 39



 

available in order to work with the applicant on the production of an emergency 
response plan. 
 

149. In light of the above, it is considered that with the attachment of the described 
condition, the issue of fire safety would be satisfactorily addressed. 

 
Loss of agricultural Land  
 
150. Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the LPP1 states that permission for 

new development will be granted where "development should have regard to 
the best and most versatile agricultural classification of the land, with a 
preference for the use of lower quality over higher quality agricultural land." 
Criterion 12 of LPP2 Policy 1 states that "development should have regard to 
the best and most versatile agricultural classification of the land, with a 
preference for the use of lower quality over higher quality agricultural land. 
Development should also aim to minimise soil disturbance as far as possible".  
 

151. Policy 16 (Renewable Energy) of the LPP2 states that renewable energy 
schemes must be acceptable in terms of best and most versatile (BMV) 
agricultural land.  
 

152. Agricultural Land Classification is graded from 1 to 5 and BMV agricultural land 
is graded 1 to 3a. Agricultural land which is classified as 3b, 4 or 5 is not 
considered to be BMV agricultural land. 
 

153. The design and assess statement (supported by a submitted Agricultural Land 
Classification Report) confirms at Para 1.4 that both site parcels are currently in 
use as arable agricultural use and are graded as lower grade (Grade 3b or 
Grade 4) agricultural land. The comments from Natural England refer to this 
document and comment that as the development would not result in over 20 ha 
best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land no concerns are raised in regard 
to this issue. 
 

154. It is noted that concerns have been received regarding the loss of agricultural 
land however the submitted report and investigation was undertaken by a 
person professionally qualified by the Central Association of Agricultural Valuers 
(CAAV) and included the sampling of soil from 14 enclosures across all parcels 
within whole application site. The results of the report and investigation confirm 
that the majority of the site is Grade 3b and the remaining Grade 4.   
 

155. Given the above, it is therefore considered that the proposal would not result in 
the loss of any best and most versatile agricultural land, in accordance with the 
aims of Policy 1 and Policy 16 of LPP2. 
 

Decommissioning 
 

156. Policy 16 Renewable Energy of the LPP2 which states that "proposals for 
renewable energy schemes will be granted planning permission where they are 
acceptable in terms of... the decommissioning and reinstatement of land at the 
end of the operational life of the development. 

page 40



 

 
157. The submitted supporting documents set out that the proposed development 

would export renewable energy to the grid for up to 40 years, and following the 
cessation of energy generation/storage at the site, all panels, security fence and 
inverters will be decommissioned, and all plant and machinery will be removed 
from the Site. The extant use of the site would then be restored thereafter.  

 
158. A condition is secured to ensure the decommissioning and restoration of the 

site. With such a condition in place, it is considered that the proposal is in 
accordance with Policy 16 in this regard.   

 
Other Matters  

 
159. In regard to criteria within Policy 16 that are not specifically discussed above, 

namely considerations of open space and other recreational uses, grid 
connection, form and siting as well as generating plant, officers have assessed 
these points as follows. 
 

160. In relation to open space and recreation, the proposed development alters views 
of the open countryside from within the site and the surrounding area although 
this impact is considered to decrease over time as the proposed landscape 
strategy is established and matures. The footpaths running through the site are 
not considered to be materially impacted with no objection being raised by the 
NCC rights of way team.  
 

161. As to grid connection, the proposed development includes associated 
infrastructure as well as battery storage equipment to store and release energy 
to the grid. The proposal would utilize an existing Point of Connection (POC) 
into the existing 132kV overhead powerline which crosses the Southern Parcel 
of the Site. 
 

162. The form of solar panels, battery storage units and substations are of a set 
industry standard and with very little variation in terms of visual appearance. The 
visual impact arising from the siting of the development as well as landscape 
strategy has been the subject of LVIA documents which have been 
independently assessed with overall conclusions made on this point within 
previous sections of this report.  
 

163. In terms of proximity to generating plant, the proposed development would 
generate energy on site as well as having the ability store and feed back directly 
to the National Grid from the southern parcel of the site. 
 

164. Given the above, it is considered that the proposal would be acceptable in terms 
of the remaining criteria within Policy 16 of LPP2.   
 

165. The level of concerns received by local residents in relation to the proposed 
development is acknowledged together with the wide range of issues raised. 
The report has summarised the issues raised with the discussion of these 
matters within the relevant sections.    

 

page 41



 

PLANNING BALANCE 
 

166. In accordance with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning 
decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless there 
are material considerations that indicate otherwise. In this instance, Policy 2 
(Climate Change) of LPP1 and Policy 16 (Renewable Energy) of the LPP2 
broadly supporting the principle of renewable energy. 
 

167. The NPPF sets out that renewable energy proposals need to be considered 
favourably within the context that even if a proposal provides no local benefits, 
the energy produced should be considered a national benefit that can be shared 
by all communities and therefore this national benefit is a material consideration 
which should be given significant weight. There is strong in principle support for 
the proposed renewable energy development. 
 

168. In this case, the proposed solar farm would provide a clean, renewable and 
sustainable form of electricity generation directly into the local electricity network 
with approximately enough energy to power up to 17,500 homes and displace 
approximately 22,455 tonnes of CO2 per annum. Furthermore, the proposal 
would be equipped with ancillary carbon zero energy storage to provide both 
ancillary storage to the solar farm but also energy balancing services to the 
National Grid. 
 

169. In considering the application as a whole, the benefits of the proposal need to 
be weighed against the harm of the proposal in order to determine whether the 
development can be permitted.  
 

170. The overall harm of the proposal can be summarised as resulting in major 
adverse impact on the landscape initially, reducing down to moderate/minor 
adverse once the landscaping mitigation works have fully established. There 
has also been an identified impact from an Ecological perspective, in that the 
proposal would reduce natural habitat for Skylarks resulting in a permanent 
negative impact of this species of bird. From a heritage perspective, the proposal 
has been considered to alter the contribution the rural landscape makes to the 
character and significance of the conservation area and the historic buildings 
from certain viewpoints. The harm in this respect has been assessed as being 
towards the medium level of less than substantial.  
 

171. These impacts weigh negatively against the proposal and conflict with aims of 
identified policy guidance. However, it is considered that the significant weight 
associated to the generation and storage of renewable energy would clearly 
outweigh the identified harm.  
 

172. In summary, it is therefore considered that when assessing the planning balance 
of the application as a whole, the undisputed urgent need for this form of 
development to assist in national and local targets for moving towards a low 
carbon future, would clearly outweigh the identified harm in terms of landscape 
character, heritage assets and Skylark habitat.  

 

page 42



 

Conclusion 
 
173. These factors, mean that the planning balance (and when considered in the 

context of the tests under Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004) is weighted in favour of the proposed development. 
 

174. Accordingly, it is considered that when assessed as a whole the proposed 
development would be in line with guidance within the NPPF and the Council’s 
own local planning policies and planning permission is recommended to be 
granted.  
 

175. Negotiations have taken place during the consideration of the application to 
address adverse impacts identified by officers and to address concerns. 
Amendments have been made to the proposal, addressing the identified 
adverse impacts, thereby resulting in a more acceptable scheme and the 
recommendation to grant planning permission. 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is RECOMMENDED that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions 
 

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 

[To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended 

by the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004]. 

2. The development hereby permitted must be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plan(s)/drawings/documents: 

• WLL02A-EXG-04-00-D-K001-P05 Site Layout Plan received 4th November 

2024 

• Landscape Masterplan – P21-2533_EN_06E Landscape Strategy by 

Pegasus - received November 2024 

• Revised Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment  by Pegasus Ref. p21-

2533eN received 4th  November 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K010-P02 SOLAR PANEL cross section solar panel 

received 5th March 2024 

• P21-2533 OLD WOOD ENERGY PARK  Revised Design and Access 

Statement received 5th March 2024 

• P21-2533 OLD WOOD ENERGY PARK  Revised Planning Statement received 

5th March 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K001-P01  Battery Unit received 12th February 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K002-P01 MV Inverter received 12th February 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K003-P01 Substation Building received 12th February 

2024 

page 43



 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K005-P01 RMU and Control Enclosures received 12th 

February 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K006-P01 Aux Transformers received 12th February 

2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K007-P01 Palisade Fencing received 12th February 

2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K008-P01  BESS CCTV and Lighting received 12th 

February 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K009-P02  132KV Switchgear received 12th February 

2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K010-P01  Solar Panels received 12th February 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K011-P01 Solar Fence and CCTV received 12th 

February 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K012-P01 33KV Cable Connection and Control room 

received 12th February 2024 

• WLL02A-EXG-05-ZZ-D-K013-P01  Typical 33KV Transformer received 12th 

February 2024 

• R001V3-IN_P21-2533-FRA Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 

Pegasus Ref. P21-212533 

• CTMP updated to reflect Local Highways Authority comments - R02- CTMP- 

2024-12-05 - Motion 

• Revised Transport Technical Note - TN03 - 2024-12-04 - Motion 

• Revised Arboricultural Impact Assessment - BHA_5598_AIA_Old Wood Energy 

Park_IH_Dec_2024_Rev B - Barton Hyett Associates 

• ALC Report, Davis Meade, November 2021 

• Revised Ecological Impact Assessment and updated BNG, Clarkson and 

Woods, submitted in November 2024 

• Breeding Bird Survey Report, Clarkson and Woods, September 2023 

• Glint and Glare Assessment, Pager Power, November 2023 

• Heritage Assessment, Pegasus, January 2024 

• Noise Impact Assessment, Metrica, November 2023  

• Outline Battery Safety Management Plan, Exagen, December 2023  

• Attenuation Basin Statement, Exagen,  February 2024. 

[For the avoidance of doubt having regard to Policy 10 of the Rushcliffe Local Plan 

Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) and Policy 1 of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land 

and Planning Policies (2019).] 

3. The site operator shall provide a minimum 4 weeks notice in writing to the Local 

Planning Authority, of the date of commissioning of the facility/ first export of 

electricity. The development hereby approved is for a period of 40 years from the 

date of first export of electricity, after which the electricity generation and storage 

operations shall cease, and all solar panels, battery storage and ancillary 

page 44



 

infrastructure are to be removed from the site and the land is to be restored to its 

former condition. No less than 6 months before the end of the 40 year operational 

period, a Decommissioning Method Statement will be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall include the timing for 

decommissioning to secure the removal of solar panels, battery storage and 

associated equipment. The subsequent decommissioning of the site shall be carried 

out in accordance with the agreed details within 6 months of the expiry of this 

permission, unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority. If the 

Development is not in operational use for a consecutive period of more than 6 

months within the 40 year operational period then it would also require 

decommissioning using the approach set out above. The Local Planning Authority 

should be provided with not less than one week's notice in writing of the cessation 

of the generation and or storage of electricity, and the intended date for 

commencement of decommissioning works under the terms of this permission. 

[In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and to comply with 

Policies 16 (Renewable Energy) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 

Policies.] 

4. The soft landscaping shown on the submitted drawing Plan Ref. Landscape 

Masterplan – P21-2533_EN_06E Landscape Strategy must be carried out and 

completed in accordance with those approved details not later than the first planting 

season (October - March) following either the substantial completion of the 

development hereby permitted or it being first brought into use, whichever is sooner. 

If, within a period of 5 years of from the date of planting, any tree or shrub planted 

as part of the approved Landscape Strategy is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies 

or become diseased or damaged then another tree or shrub of the same species 

and size as that originally planted must be planted in the same place during the 

next planting season following its removal. 

[To ensure the development creates a visually attractive environment and to safeguard 

against significant adverse effects on the landscape character of the area having 

regard to Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan 

Part 1: Core Strategy (2014); Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe 

Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019) and Chapter 12 (Achieving Well-

designed Places) of the National Planning Policy Framework.] 

5.     No development shall commence until a pre-construction condition survey of the 

highway has been carried out along the proposed HGV routes, the extent illustrated 

on Figure 7.1 of the Revised CTMP (R02- CTMP- 2024-12-05, Motion, dated 

November 2024), and submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. A post 

construction condition survey, with provision for appropriate reinstatement of affected 

areas associated with the construction phase of the development, should be submitted 

to and approved by the LPA within 6 months of export date secured by Condition 3. 

page 45



 

[This is a pre-commencement condition as precise details have not been provided and 

this element of the proposed development is required to be carried out before the site 

is operational. In the interests of highway safety having regard to Policy 1 of the 

Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019).]  

6.     The development shall not be brought into use until the accesses have been 

surfaced in a bound material for a minimum distance of 10m to the rear of the highway 

boundary, have been suitably drained to prevent the discharge of surface water from 

the site to the public highway and the visibility splays provided in accordance with the 

approved plans. The bound surfacing, measures to prevent the discharge of surface 

water and visibility splays shall thereafter be retained for the life of the development. 

[In the interests of highway safety having regard to Policy 1 of the Rushcliffe Local 

Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019).] 

7.     No part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until works to 

implement appropriate passing bay facilities in the adopted highway have been 

provided in accordance with details to be submitted and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with 

these details to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

[In the interests of Highway safety having regard to Policy 1 of the Rushcliffe Local 

Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019).] 

8.     Prior to the commencement of any on site works (including site clearance), a 

Construction Method Statement detailing the proposed construction hours and 

techniques for the control of noise, dust and vibration during the works shall be 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried 

out in accordance with the approved Construction Method Statement. 

[In order to protect the amenities of the area having regard to Policy 10 (Design and 

Enhancing Local Identify) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) 

and Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land 

and Planning Policies (2019).] 

9. Prior to any external flood/security lighting being brought into first use, a lighting 

assessment (together with a lux plot of the estimated illuminance) shall be submitted 

to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Any such assessment should 

consider the potential for light spill and/or glare, in accordance with the Institute of 

Lighting Professionals (ILP) Guidance Note for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light 

01/21). The lighting shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and be 

retained and maintained as such for the life of the development. 

[In order to protect the amenities of the area having regard to Policy 10 (Design and 

Enhancing Local Identify) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) 

and Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land 

and Planning Policies (2019).] 

page 46



 

10. The ecological enhancements and reasonable avoidance measures shall be 

carried out in accordance with the recommendations within the Ecological Impact 

Assessment (EcIA)  report by Clarkson and Woods received 4th November 2024. 

[To ensure the development contributes to the enhancements of biodiversity on the 

site having regard to Policy 17 (Biodiversity) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core 

Strategy (2014) Policy 38 (Non Designated Biodiversity Assets and the Wider 

Ecological Network) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies 

(2019) Chapter 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment of the National 

Planning Policy Framework.] 

11. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved a Biodiversity Habitat 

Management and Monitoring Plan, setting out how the ecological mitigation and 

compensation will be provided and maintained over a 30 year period shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 

then be reviewed every 5 years, with the Local Planning Authority being notified by 

letter, and any required improvements agreed with the Borough Council and then 

undertaken thereafter. 

[To ensure the development contributes to the enhancements of biodiversity on the 

site having regard to Policy 17 (Biodiversity) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core 

Strategy (2014) Policy 38 (Non Designated Biodiversity Assets and the Wider 

Ecological Network) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies 

(2019) Chapter 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment of the National 

Planning Policy Framework.] 

12. No development or demolition shall take place until an Archaeological 

Mitigation Strategy for the protection of archaeological remains is submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority. The mitigation strategy will include 

appropriate Written Schemes of Investigation for evaluation trenching and provision 

for further mitigation work. These schemes shall include the following: 

a. An assessment of significance and proposed mitigation strategy (i.e. preservation 

by record, preservation in situ or a mix of these elements). 

b. A methodology and timetable of site investigation and recording 

c. Provision for site analysis 

d. Provision for publication and dissemination of analysis and records 

e. Provision for archive deposition 

f. Nomination of a competent person/organisation to undertake the work 

The scheme of archaeological investigation must only be undertaken in accordance 

with the approved details. 

page 47



 

[To ensure the preparation and implementation of an appropriate scheme of 

archaeological mitigation in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework]. 

13. The archaeological site work must be undertaken only in full accordance with 

the approved written schemes referred to in the above Condition. The applicant will 

notify the Local Planning Authority of the intention to commence at least fourteen days 

before the start of archaeological work in order to facilitate adequate monitoring 

arrangements. No variation shall take place without prior consent of the Local Planning 

Authority. 

[In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made for the investigation, 

retrieval and recording of any possible archaeological remains on the site in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.] 

14. A report of the archaeologist’s findings shall be submitted to the Local Planning 

Authority and the Historic Environment Record Officer at Nottinghamshire County 

Council within 3 months of the works hereby given consent being commenced unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; and the condition shall not 

be discharged until the archive of all archaeological work undertaken hitherto has been 

deposited with the County Museum Service, or another public depository willing to 

receive it. 

[In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made for the reporting, archiving 

and dissemination of the results of the investigation in accordance with the National 

Planning Policy Framework.] 

15. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood 

risk assessment (R001V3-IN_P21-2533-FRA Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 

Strategy Pegasus Ref. P21-212533). The mitigation measures contained within this 

document shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently in 

accordance with the scheme's timing/phasing arrangements. The measures detailed 

above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the 

development. 

[To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants and 

having regard to Policy 17 of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 

Policies (2019).] 

16. Prior to the construction of the Battery Energy Storage System (BESS), a Risk 

Management Plan and Emergency Response Plan shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These plans shall be developed in 

conjunction with Nottinghamshire Rescue Service using the best practice guidance as 

detailed and required in the published Grid Scale Battery Energy Storage System 

planning - Guidance for FRS published by NFCC National Fire Chiefs Council and as 

set out within the consultation response from Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service 

dated 8 March 2024. Once approved, these plans shall be implemented thereafter and 

for the duration of the lifetime of the development. 

page 48



 

[In the interests of public safety and ensuring any risks associated with the proposed 

development are suitably identified and mitigated.] 

17. Prior to the commencement of development, the maintenance and 

management measures for the Rights of Way over the site for the duration of the 

construction and life of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. These measures shall be broadly in line with the 

Construction Traffic Management Plan – November 2024. 

[This is a pre-commencement condition as precise details have not been provided and 

this element of the proposed development is required to be carried before the site is 

operational in order and to ensure the rights of way remain accessible and free of 

obstruction in accordance with aims of Policy 1 Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and 

Planning Policies (2019).] 

18. If foul is to be discharged from this site, the development hereby permitted shall 

not commence until drainage plans for the disposal of foul sewage have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 

shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development 

is first brought into use. 

[To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants and 

having regard to Policy 17 of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 

Policies (2019).] 

19. Prior to the development hereby permitted becoming operational, an updated 

noise assessment/statement confirming the conclusions of report prepared by Metrica 

Environmental Consulting Ltd ‘Noise Impact Assessment Version 3.0 (dated 

November 2023)’ remain relevant to the chosen plant equipment to be installed within 

the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Should the submitted report identify conclusions which differ to the 

conclusions contained with the report prepared by Metrica Environmental Consulting 

Ltd ‘Noise Impact Assessment Version 3.0 (dated November 2023)’, then a scheme 

for protecting the amenity of residents from noise from the proposed plant equipment 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All 

mitigation measure, if necessary shall remain in place for the lifetime of the 

development and be completed prior to the development hereby permitted becoming 

operational. 

[In order to protect the amenities of the area having regard to Policy 10 (Design and 

Enhancing Local Identify) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) 

and Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land 

and Planning Policies (2019).] 

20. Prior to the First Export Date details of the cleaning procedure for the panels 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
details shall include but not be limited to the frequency of cleaning, volumes of water 

page 49



 

required, details of any detergents to be used and any required mitigation. The 
cleaning of the panels shall thereafter take place in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
[In order to protect the amenities of the area having regard to Policy 10 (Design and 

Enhancing Local Identify) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) 

and Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land 

and Planning Policies (2019).] 

21. In the event that repairs and / or replacements are required to the approved 
solar infrastructure, details of the proposed Remedial Works (“the Remedial Scheme”) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Remedial Scheme shall include details for the management of all construction 
activities associated with the remediation works, and the remediation scheme shall 
include the same details within the construction method statement approved within 
condition 8 of this permission.  
 
[In order to protect the amenities of the area having regard to Policy 10 (Design and 

Enhancing Local Identify) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) 

and Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land 

and Planning Policies (2019).] 

22.  Prior to their erection on site details of the proposed materials and finish 

including colour of all solar panels, frames, ancillary buildings, equipment, and 

enclosures shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 

authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 

and be maintained as such for the lifetime of the development hereby permitted. 

[In order to protect the amenities of the area having regard to Policy 10 (Design and 

Enhancing Local Identify) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) 

and Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land 

and Planning Policies (2019).] 

23. The installed electrical generating capacity of the development hereby 

approved shall be restricted to a maximum of 49.9 megawatts (MW) measured as the 

AC installed export capacity. 

[To limit the generating capacity of the site based on the submitted information and to 

accord with the National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-

3), and for the avoidance of doubt having regard to Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core 

Strategy (2014) and Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019).] 

 

NOTES TO APPLICANT 

It is an offence under S148 and S151 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud on the 
public highway and as such you should undertake every effort to prevent it occurring 
In order to carry out the off-site passing bay works required you will be undertaking 

page 50



 

work in the public highway which is land subject to the provisions of the Highways Act 
1980 (as amended) and therefore land over which you have no control. In order to 
undertake the works you will need to enter into an agreement under Section 278 of 
the Act. Please contact Nottinghamshire County Council Highway Development 
Control (email: hdc.south@nottscc.gov.uk) for details. It is strongly recommended that 
the developer contact the Highway Authority at an early stage to clarify the codes etc. 
with which compliance will be required in the particular circumstance, and it is essential 
that design calculations and detailed construction drawings for the proposed works 
are submitted to and approved by the County Council (or District Council) in writing 
before any work commences on site. All correspondence with the Highway Authority 
should be addressed to:- NCC Highways (Development Control, Floor 3) 
Nottinghamshire County Council County Hall Loughborough Road West Bridgford 
Nottingham, NG2 7QP 
 
Your attention is drawn to the comments made by the Aerodrome Safeguarding 
Technical Officer - The Glint and Glare Assessment for the site shows potential for 
glint and glare with potential for after image. In the event of reports and evidence of 
an unacceptable glint/glare hazard emanating from the solar installation, East 
Midlands Airport will (through the Air Navigation Order) require mitigation to remove 
the hazard. 
 
The applicant’s attention is drawn to the procedures for crane and tall equipment 
notifications, please see: https://www.caa.co.uk/Commercial-industry/Airspace/Event-
andobstacle-notification/Crane-notification/ -Due to the location of the proposals 
underneath the approach path for Runway 27 care should be taken to ensure dust and 
smoke emissions are prevented from transiting into the flight path.  
 
The proposals include 3 instances of access roads crossing ordinary watercourses, 
including the Kingston Brook. The permanent structures and the associated temporary 
works may require consent under Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991. It is 
recommended that the applicant engages early with Nottinghamshire County Council 
as the Lead Local Flood Authority with details of their proposals. 
 
Severn Trent Water advises that although our statutory sewer records do not show 
any public sewers within the area you have specified, there may be sewers that have 
been recently adopted under, The Transfer of Sewer Regulations 2011. Public sewers 
have statutory protection and may not be built close to, directly over or be diverted 
without consent and you are advised to contact Severn Trent Water to discuss your 
proposals. Severn Trent will seek to assist you obtaining a solution which protects both 
the public sewer and the building. 
 
This application relates to: Construction, operation and subsequent decommissioning 
of a renewable energy park comprising ground mounted Solar PV with co-located 
battery energy storage system (BESS) at the point of connection, together with 
associated infrastructure, access, landscaping and cabling. We note the references to 
security in the Design and Access Statement, “Permeable access tracks and vehicle 
parking within fenced and gated compounds. Fencing around the solar farm will 
comprise 2.5m high deer fencing (wooden post and wire mesh appearance) whilst 
fencing around the BESS and POC compounds would comprise painted (dark green 
or other colour specified by the Council) palisade fence to a height of 2.4 m; Pole 

page 51



 

mounted infrared CCTV cameras will be installed at a height of 4m around the 
perimeter of the solar farm enclosures facing inwards, whilst columns circa 4m in 
height will also be installed within the inside edge of the BESS and substation 
compounds within the Southern Parcel; Timer motion sensor activated security lighting 
to be installed on proposed electrical housing and buildings, enabling the visibility for 
any unscheduled maintenance. Any installed lighting will be downwards facing to limit 
any light emittance when lit.“ And “ Security Requirements Taking into account the low 
level of recorded crime for the locality, the following security measures are considered 
to be appropriate to combat potential criminal activity and unauthorised access into 
the separate development parcels:  
• A 2.4 m high palisade security fence will encompass the proposed BESS and POC 
compounds.  
• 4m high pole mounted CCTV cameras will be positioned at intervals around the 
periphery of the BESS and POC compounds.  
• A 2.5 m high deer fence will be installed to enclose the separate solar farm elements 
of the Development.  
• 4m high pole mounted CCTV cameras will be positioned at intervals around the 
inside edge of the solar farm fencing, facing into the site. • Downwards facing timer 
motion sensor activated security lighting, enabling the security company to have a 
visual at night. January 2024 | JE | P21-2533 27 6.5. The above security provisions 
are typical of other similar developments implemented and operating across the 
County and are widely accepted as necessary provisions for the operational safety 
and security or electrical equipment.  
 
Nottinghamshire has small, medium, and large solar parks / farms which have over 
the past 10 years been subject to theft, criminal damage and other crime types, and 
these have included the theft of solar panels, removal of cabling and the infrastructure 
which has proved costly with replacement amounts generally in excess of £50,000 to 
the various developers and management companies that operate such facilities. The 
National Infrastructure Crime Reduction Partnership in their most recent report states, 
“Cable continues to be the primary property targeted by thieves, likely due to ease of 
disposal via scrap metal dealers. The estimated national loss from solar farm theft 
across Jan-Feb 2024 is in excess of £1m, the highest loss recorded for a single theft 
was £150,000 in the Wiltshire force area.” Combine this with the continuing rise in the 
costs of metals typically used in the provision of sites such as this, and which is 
saleable by the criminal as scrap metal, has seen a consistent increase in the number 
of solar sites being targeted. The low recorded crime for the locality referred to in the 
Design and Access Statement is somewhat misleading as low crime would be 
reasonably expected in a predominantly rural environment, however, conversely, due 
to the isolated nature of this site, its minimal security in terms of deer fencing, would 
expose it to greater risk of costly theft and damage far more than that experienced in 
a higher crime environment. We note that the Design and Access Statement 
describes, “Fencing around the solar farm will comprise 2.5m high deer fencing 
(wooden post and wire mesh appearance) whilst fencing around the BESS and POC 
compounds would comprise painted (dark green or other colour specified by the 
Council) palisade fence to a height of 2.4 m”. We would strongly advise the avoidance 
and use of deer fencing which does not provide any difficulty or deterrent to the 
criminal in a rural and isolated environment. This combined with the remote and 
permeable nature of this particular site could increase the vulnerability of the facility to 
criminal focus. We would therefore advise the following: Fencing and Boundary 

page 52



 

Treatment Land selected should aim to avoid affecting the visual aspect of 
landscapes, maintain the natural beauty and should be predominantly flat, well 
screened by hedges, tree lines, etc. and not cause undue impact to nearby domestic 
properties or roads. (BRE. Planning guidance for the large-scale ground mounted 
solar PV systems) I would recommend that the boundary fence is to a minimum of 
LPS 1175 level 3 and to a height of 2.4 metres or to the current UK Government 
standard, SEAP (Security Equipment Approval Panel) class 1-3. The use of 2.4 metre 
welded mesh fencing (in green) would be the most unobtrusive method of providing a 
secure perimeter border. All gated entrances should be secured with appropriate 
access systems. The NFU Mutual recommends good perimeter security fencing for all 
solar installations along with CCTV, motion sensors and infrared beams, depending 
on location. It also recommends solar panels are secured to frames with unique 
fastenings, requiring special tools – much like alloy wheel bolts. Monitored CCTV 
System Whilst considering the often-isolated locations that Solar Farms are to be 
established the installation of a remotely monitored, with motion detection, CCTV 
system is an effective deterrent and is most likely to provide effective evidence should 
a crime occur. Installers of remotely monitored detector activated CCTV systems will 
comply with all the following standards and guidelines: 
 • NPCC Security Systems Policy  
• BS 8418 Installation and remote monitoring of detector activated CCTV systems – 
Code of Practice  
• BS EN 50132-7: CCTV Application guidelines 

page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Appeals – May 2025 
 

Planning Ref: Address Proposal or Breach Appeal 
Decision  

Decision Type Planning Inspectorate 
Reference  

Comments/Decision 
Date  

 
23/02297/FUL 
 

 
Tally Ho, Ash 
Lane, Costock 
 
 

 
Demolition of existing 
dwelling and erection of 
replacement dwelling and 
outbuilding 

 
Dismissed 

 
Non-Determination 

 
APP/P3040/W/24/3353882 

 
08/05/2025 

 
24/02056/ADV 

 
Kings Service 
Station, 
Grantham Road, 
Bingham 

 
Erection of a small format 
Advertising Display 

 
Dismissed 

 
Delegated 

 
APP/P3040/Z/25/3362627 

 
09/05/2025 

 
24/01473/FUL 

 
250 Melton Road 
Edwalton 

 
Alterations and extension 
to existing garage to 
provide studio at first floor 
with 2 dormers to front. 

 
Allowed 

 
Delegated 

 
APP/P3040/D/25/3360397 

 
12/05/2025 

 
24/00245/CLUEXD 

 
Trudos, Trent 
Side, Barton In 
Fabis 

 
Application for certificate 
of existing lawfulness in 
respect of the former 
caravan and ancillary 
building have been in 
continuous residential use 
for at least four years and 
Trudos has been 
continuously used for 
residential purposes for a 
period exceeding ten years. 

 
Dismissed 

 
Delegated  

 
APP/P3040/X/24/3352096 

 
12/05/2025 

page 55

A
genda Item

 5



Planning Appeals – May 2025 
 

 
24/00188/BUILD 

 
Christmas 
Cottage, 
Flawforth Lane 
Ruddington 

 
Construction Of A 
Replacement Dwelling 

 
Dismissed 

 
Appeal against an 
Enforcement Notice 

 
APP/P3040/X/24/3356371 
APP/P3040/X/24/3356372 
 

 
12/05/2025 

 
24/00991/CLUPRD 

 
4 Castle Hill, East 
Leake 

 
Dismantling of two sheds 
for replacement summer 
house 

 
Allowed  

 
Delegated  

 
APP/P3040/X/24/3351582 

 
12/05/2025 

 
23/02275/FUL 

 
Haulage 
Contractors At 
Garage And 
Premises,  
Bridegate Lane, 
Hickling Pastures 
 

 
Erection of 9 new dwellings 
and extension of existing 
bungalow and associated 
landscaping and highway 
works. 

 
Dismissed 

 
Delegated  

 
APP/P3040/W/24/3351023 

 
23/05/2025 

 

page 56


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 15 May 2025
	4 Planning Applications
	25.00073.TORDER - 7 Manor Park, Ruddington
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	25.00073.TORDER - 7 Manor Park - Ruddington
	24.00161.FUL - Land West of Bradmore Road and North of Wysall Road, Land West of Wysall
	24.00161.FUL - Land West of Bradmore Road & North of Wysall Road

	5 Planning Appeals

